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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Board of Directors of 160 Health International Limited

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of 160 Health International Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages 4 to 118, comprise:

o the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024
and March 31, 2025 ;

o the statements of financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and
2024 and March 31, 2025 ;

o the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the
years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the three months period ended
March 31, 2025 (the “Relevant Periods”);

o the consolidated statements of changes in equity for the Relevant Periods;

e the consolidated statements of cash flows for the Relevant Periods; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Company as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025 and the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March
31, 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
Relevant Periods in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“the Code”).
With respect to three months period ended March 31, 2025, we also complied with the
independence requirements of the Code, as applicable to audits of financial statements of public
interest entities. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong SAR, China
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Board of Directors of 160 Health International Limited (Continued)

Other Matter

The comparative consolidated financial statements as at January 1, 2022 and for the three
months period ended March 31, 2024 have not been audited.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.



Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Board of Directors of 160 Health International Limited (Continued)

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

e Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or business units within the Group as
a basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors of the Company regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Restriction on Distribution and Use

The consolidated financial statements are prepared for the purpose of the preparation of
financial information for inclusion in the prospectus of the Company in connection with the
initial public offering of shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. As a result, the consolidated financial statements may not be suitable for
another purpose. Our report is intended solely for the board of directors of the Company and
should not be distributed to or used by any other parties for any purpose.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
Note 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
Continuing operations RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
Revenue 6 525,646 628,606 620,682 94,165 100,475
Cost of sales and services 7 (407,359) (491,279) (460,495) (69,668) (72,608)
Gross profit 118,287 137,327 160,187 24,497 27,867
Selling and marketing expenses 7 (97,424) (101,824) (117,269) (27,372) (19,675)
Research and development expenses 7 (54,057) (41,697) (50,513) (11,932) (8,986)
Administrative expenses 7 (39,826) (89,659) (92,986) (26,061) (14,402)
Net (provision)/reversal of impairment
losses on financial assets 8 (1,022) (7,333) (8,284) 600 (288)
Other income 9 7,181 4,427 3,828 1,166 244
Other (losses)/gain, net 10 (12,323) (761) 411 9 (481)
Operating loss (79,184) (99,520) (104,626) (39,093) (15,721)
Finance income 12 371 210 1,326 20 421
Finance costs 12 (40,144) (11,366) (3,656) (765) (1,393)
Finance costs, net (39,773) (11,156) (2,330) (745) (972)
Loss before income tax from
continuing operations (118,957) (110,676) (106,956) (39,838) (16,693)
Income tax expenses 14 - (547) (1,290) (725) (435)
Loss from continuing operations (118,957) (111,223) (108,246) (40,563) (17,128)
Discontinued operation
(Loss)/profit from discontinued operation 15 (1,108) 5,024 - - -
Loss for the year/period (120,065) (106,199) (108,246) (40,563) (17,128)
Other comprehensive income:
Items that may subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss
Currency translation differences - - 317 317 -
Total comprehensive loss (120,065) (106,199) (107,929) (40,246) (17,128)
(Loss)/profit for the year/period
attributable to:
Owners of the Company
- Continuing operations (110,740) (113,840) (107,687) (38,487) (15,496)
- Discontinued operation 15 (565) 5,024 - - -
(111,305) (108,816) (107,687) (38,487) (15,496)
Non-controlling interests
- Continuing operations (8,217) 2,617 (559) (2,076) (1,632)
- Discontinued operation 15 (543) - - - -
(8,760} 2,617 (559) (2,076) (1,632)




160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT ORLOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(CONTINUED)

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00
(Unaudited)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income
attributable to:
Owners of the Company
- Continuing operations (110,740) (113,840) (107,370) (38,170) (15,496)
- Discontinued operation (565) 5,024 - - -
(111,305) (108,816) (107,370) (38.,170) (15,496)
Non-controlling interests
- Continuing operations (8,217) 2,617 (559) (2,076) (1,632)
- Discontinued operation (543) - - - -
(8,760} 2,617 (559) (2,076) (1,632)
(Losses)/earnings per share for (loss)/profit
attributable to owners of the Company
(expressed in RMB Yuan) 16
- Continuing operations
Basic and diluted (1.938) (1.959) (1.832) (0.655) (0.264)
- Discontinued operation
Basic (0.010) 0.086 NA NA NA
Diluted (0.010) 0.084 NA NA NA

The above consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.



160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at As at
January 1, As at December 31, March 31,
Note 2022 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’o00
(Unaudited)
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property and equipment 18 6,434 5,899 5,237 3,265 3,497
Right-of-use assets 19 17,734 13,505 21,875 17,660 10,551
Intangible assets 20 2,560 2,795 2,324 1,838 1,717
Restricted cash 25 563 582 122 222 154
Deferred income tax assets 33 - - 826 1,206 1,406
27,291 22781 30,384 24,191 17,325
Current assets
Inventories 22 12,309 10,312 4,451 2,030 1,216
Trade receivables 23 86,081 63,592 117,824 170,669 167,837
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 24 37,558 25,049 25,460 34,836 44,111
Restricted cash 25 2,050 4,025 494 7,781 7,176
Cash and cash equivalents 25 89,439 37,748 57,555 58,266 68,447
227,437 140,726 205,784 273,582 288,787
Assets classified as held for sale 15 - 15,416 - - -
227,437 156,142 205,784 273,582 288,787
Total assets 254,728 178,923 236,168 297,773 306,112
EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Combined/share capital 26 57,430 58,188 4 4 4
Share premium 27 343,561 374,813 595,466 595,466 595,466
Other reserves 27 (94,392) (69,110) 223,513 283,813 291,622
Accumulated losses (636,610) (747,915) (856,731) (964,418) (979,914)
(330,011) (384,024) (37,748} (85,135) (92,822)
Non-controlling interests (1,492) (8,410) (2,808) (3,367) (4,999)
Total deficit (331,503) (392,434) (40,556) (88,502) (97,821)




160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

As at As at
January 1, As at December 31, March 31,
Note 2022 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities .
Lease liabilities 19 11,681 6,021 17,013 11,879 6,979
Redemption liabilities 32 257,519 - - - -
Borrowings 29 - 1,500 486 1,277 1,552
Contract liabilities 6 20,905 19,733 5,974 1,863 1,425
290,105 27,254 23,473 15,019 9,956
Current liabilities
Lease liabilities 19 6,518 8,249 5,649 7,123 7,106
Trade and bill payables 30 73,873 56,159 96,375 102,627 90,809
Borrowings 29 40,585 19,558 9,514 89,393 114,506
Contract liabilities 6 24,157 36,395 39,728 41,446 54,601
Accruals and other payables 31 123,904 106,433 101,869 130,262 126,457
Current income tax liabilities - - 116 405 498
Redemption liabilities 32 27,089 204,183 - - -
296,126 520,977 253,251 371,256 393,977
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified
as held for sale 15 - 23,126 - - -
296,126 544,103 253,251 371,256 393,977
Net current liabilities 68,689 387,961 47,467 97,674 105,190
Total liabilities 586,231 571,357 276,724 386,275 403,933
Total deficit and liabilities 254,728 178,923 236,168 297,773 306,112

The above consolidated statements of financial positions should be read in conjunction with the accompanying

notes.

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Borad of Directors of the
Company on September 9, 2025 and were signed by on behalf by:

A

21

M—

Director

Director



160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

As at
As at December 31, March 31,
Note 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’oo0
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment in the subsidiaries 41(a) ~* 3,099,450 3,200,433 3,217,242
- 3,099,450 3,209,433 3,217,242
Current assets
Prepayment and other receivables 41(b) 2 53,177 3,761 4,006
Cash and cash equivalents - 4 18 12
53,181 3,779 4,018
Total assets 2 3,152,631 3,213,212 3,221,260
EQUITY
Share capital 2 4 4 4
Share premium 41(c) - 3,148,561 3,148,561 3,148,561
Other reserve 41(e) - - 59,983 67,792
Accumulated losses - (20,645) (19,573} (39,728}
Total equity 2 3,127,920 3,188,975 3,176,629
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables 41(d) - 24,711 24,237 44,631
Total liabilities - 24,711 24,237 44,631
Total equity and liabilities 2 3,152,631 3,213,212 3,221,260
* The balance represents an amount less than RMB1,000.

The above statements of financial positions of the company should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.

The financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Borad of Directors of the Company on
September 9, 2025 and were signed by on behalf by:

) O 2 2 5w, —

Director Director {




160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Balance at January 1, 2022
Comprehensive loss

Less for the year
Transaction with owners in their capacity as
owWners

Capital injection from shareholders
Buy-kack of vested shares
Derecognition of redemption liabilities

Share issuance cost

Balances at December 31, 2022 and January 1,
2023

Comprehensive (loss)/income

(Loss)/profit for the year
Transaction with owners in their capacity as
owners

Transactions with non-controlling interests
Capital injection from shareholders
Recognition of redemption liabilitics
Share-based payments

Buy-back of vested shares

Derecognition of redemption liabilities
Disposal of Jiangsu Huiyi

Share issuance cost

Issuance of ordinary shares by the Company
Reclassification of cotbined capital to share premium
upon the completion of the Reorganization

Balances at December 31, 2023 and January 1,
2024

Comprehensive income/(loss)
Loss for the year
Other comprehansive income

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
Transaction with owners in their capacity as
owners

Share-based payments

Balance at December 31, 2024

Note

27

32(e)
27

27
32(c)
28

32(f)
15
27
26

28

Attributable to owners of the Company/Shenzhen Ningyuan

Non- Total

Combined/ Share Other Accumulated controlling (deficit)/
Share capital premium reserves 1 interests equity
RMB'ooo RMB'000 RMB'ooo RMB0g0 RMB'ooo RMRBo00
57,430 343,561 £94,392) (636,610) (1,492) (331,503}
- - - (111,305) (8,760) (120,065}

758 32,242 - - - 33,000

- - (213) - - (313)

- - 25,595 - 1,842 27,437
- (990} - - - (990}
58,188 374,813 (69,110} (747,915) (8,410) (392,434}
- - - {108,816) 2,617 (106,199}

- - 1,842 - (1,842) -

1,247 108,753 - - - 110,600
- - (106,362) - - (106,362)

- - 46,424 - - 46,424
- - (64 - - (64)

- 58,831 350,783 - - 409,614

. - - - 4,827 4,827

- (6,3606) - . - (6,366)

4 - - - - 4
(59.435) 59,435 - - - -
4 595,466 223,513 (856,731) (2,808) (40,556)
- - - (107,687) (559) (108,246)

- - 37 - - 317
- - 317 (107,687} (559). (107,929}

- - 59,983 - - 59,983
4 595,466 283,813 (964,418) {3,367) (88,502)




160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

Attributable to owners of the Company/Shenzhen Ningyuan

Non- Total
Combined/ Share Other Accumulated controlling (deficit)/
Share capital premium reserves losses interests equity
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'ooo RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
Balances at January 1, 2024 4 595,466 223,513 (856,731} (2,808) (40,556)
Comprehensive income/(loss)
Loss for the period - - - (38,487) (2,076) (40,563)
Other comprehensive income - - 317 - - 317
Total comprehensive income/(loss) - - 317 (38,487) (2,076) (40,246)
Transaction with owners in their capacity as
owners
Share-based payments 28 - - 18,506 - - 18,506
Balances at March 31, 2024 4 595,466 242,336 (895,218) (4,884) (62,296)
Balances at January 1, 2025 4 595,466 283,813 (964,418) (3,367) (88,502)
Comprehensive loss
Loss for the period - - - (15,496) (1,632) (17,128)
Other comprehensive income - - - - - -
Total comprehensive loss - - - (15,496) (1,632) (17,128)
Transaction with owners in their capacity as
owners
Share-based payments 28 - - 7,809 - - 7,809
Balances at March 31, 2025 4 595,466 291,622 (979,914) (4,999) (97,821)

The above consolidated statements of change in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash used in operations 34(a)

Interest received
Income tax paid
Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property and
equipment

Purchase of intangible assets

Purchase of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Net cash acquired for business combination 38

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Increase in restricted cash

Decrease in restricted cash

Loans advanced to an employee

Loans advanced to related parties 39(c)

Settlement of loans from related parties 39(c)

Net cash generated from/(used in)
investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds of capital injection from
shareholders 26

Payment of lease liabilities
Settlement of redemption liabilities
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings

Interest paid

Payment of share issuance cost
Payment of listing expenses

Net cash (used in)/generated from
financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
the year/period

Effects of foreign exchange rate on cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at end of
the year/period

Cash and cash equivalents as at end of
the year/period, represented by:

Cash and cash equivalents 25
Cash and cash equivalents included in
assets classified as held for sale 15

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’o000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
(42,767) (64,464) (54,708} (30,523) (12,742)
376 210 42 20 2
- (272) (1,381) (133) (542)
(42,391) (64,526) (56,047) (30,636) (13,282)
(2,491) (2,706) (942) (419) (796)
29 - 3 - -
- (73) - -
- - (30} - -
63 - - - -
- - 30 - -
(8,044) (423) (7,588) (1,476) (637)
6,050 4,414 201 - 1,310
- (700) - - -
(35,751) (81,738) (442,185) (94,571) (107,062)
43,415 83,920 437,685 90,071 107,062
3,271 2,694 (12,826) (6,395) (123)
27,500 110,000 - - -
(8,794) (8,559) (8,341) (3,124) (502)
(4,671) - - - -
15,000 17,652 107,230 37,500 51,500
(34,527) (28,710) (26,560) (5,961) (26,112)
(4,749) (1,463) (2,200) (374) (1,060)
(990) (5,116) - - -
- (3,175) (545) (566) (240)
(11,231) 80,629 69,584 27,475 23,586
(50,351) 18,797 711 (9,556) 10,181
89,439 39,088 57,555 57,555 58,266
- (330) - - -
39,088 57,555 58,266 47,999 68,447
37,748 57,555 58,266 47,999 68,447
1,340 - - - -
39,088 57,555 58,266 47,999 68,447

The above consolidated statements of cash flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1.1.

1.2,

(a)

160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
General information, Reorganization and basis of presentation
General information

160 Health International Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on January
31, 2022 as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act (Cap. 22, Law 3 of 1961
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered office is 4t
Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South Church Street, P.O. Box 10240, Grand Cayman KY-1002, Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries now comprising the Group
(collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the provision of the following goods and services: (i)
sales of pharmaceutical and healthcare products; (ii) provision of digital healthcare and wellness
solutions in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) (the “Listing Business™).

Mr. Luo Ningzheng (“Mr. Luo”), the founder of the Group, registered the domain name of “healthcare
160 website” in 2004. On February 22, 2005, Shenzhen Ningyuan Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen
Ningyuan”) was established in the PRC as a company with limited liability with an initial registered capital
of RMB500,000 by Mr Luo. Shenzhen Ningyuan is the onshore holding company of the Group before the
reorganization as detailed in Note 1.2.

The ultimate holding company of the Company is LNZ Management Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands, which is controlled by Mr. Luo, the founder and the ultimate controlling
shareholder (the “Controlling Shareholder”) of the Group.

These consolidated financial statements of the Group for years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024
and three months ended March 31, 2025 (“Relevant Periods”) are presented in RMB and all amounts are
rounded to the nearest thousand of Renminbi (RMB’000), unless otherwise stated.

Reorganization

Prior to the incorporation of the Company and the completion of the reorganization (the “Reorganization”)
as described below, the Listing Business was carried out by Shenzhen Ningyuan and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Operating Entities”).

In preparing for the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, the Group underwent a Reorganization, pursuant to which the Listing Business was
transferred to the Company.

The Reorganization involved the following principal steps:

Offshore Reorganization

Incorporation of the Company and its oversea subsidiaries

On January 31, 2022, the Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability. The initial authorized share capital of the Company was US$50,000 divided into
5,000,000,000 shares of US$0.00001 par value each.

Upon incorporation, one share of the Company was allotted and issued at par value to the initial
subscriber. On the same day, the initial subscriber transferred its one share of the Company to Ming

Holdings Limited (“Ming Holdings”) and the Company further allotted and issued 32,047,692 shares of
the Company to shareholders of Shenzhen Ningyuan.

12



1.2,

)]
(a)

(b)

()

160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General information, Reorganization and basis of presentation (Continued)
Reorganization (Continued)

Offshore Reorganization (Continued)

Incorporation of the Company and its subsidiaries (Continued)

On February 8, 2022, 160 Health Management Limited (“160 Health Management”) was incorporated in
the BVI with the Company being its sole shareholder.

On February 22, 2022, 160 Health (HK) Holdings Group Limited (“160 Health (HK)”) was incorporated
in Hong Kong with 160 Health Management being its sole shareholder.

On June 21, 2022, Blue Dragonfly Management Limited (“Blue Dragonfly Management”) was
incorporated in the BVI with the Company being its sole shareholder.

On July 14, 2022, Blue Dragonfly International (HK) Limited (“Blue Dragonfly (HK)”) was incorporated
in Hong Kong with Blue Dragonfly Management being its sole shareholder.

On August 31, 2023, along with the completion of the Reorganization of the Group, the Company swapped
the vested and exercisable share options issued by Shenzhen Ningyuan with the Company’s share options,
pursuant to which, the holders of these share options were granted with the right to acquire 643,697
shares (before subdivision) of the Company.

Further allotment and issuance of shares

On October 20, 2023 and November 21, 2023, the Company allotted and issued an aggregate of
29,279,498 shares to the shareholders of Shenzhen Ningyuan.

After this allotment and issuance of shares, except for two shareholders who collectively hold 2.28%
equity interest of Shenzhen Ningyuan, the Company has issued shares of the Company to all other
shareholders of Shenzhen Ningyuan based on their shareholding in Shenzhen Ningyuan. As of the'date
of this consolidated financial statements, the Group has not yet agreed any share swap or settlement plan
with the aforesaid two shareholders who hold 2.28% equity interest in Shenzhen Ningyuan.

13



1.

1.2,

(i)
(a)

(b)

160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General information, Reorganization and basis of presentation (Continued)
Reorganization (Continued)

Onshore Reorganization

Incorporation of onshore subsidiaries

On April 27, 2022, Zhejiang Renren’ai Information Technology Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Renren’ai
Health Information Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.) (“Zhejiang Renren’ai”) was incorporated as a
wholly foreign owned enterprise, which was wholly owned by 160 Health (HK).

On June 30, 2022, Shenzhen Weikang Zhiyuan Technology Co., Ltd. (“Weikang Zhiyuan”) was
incorporated by Zhejiang Renren’ai and Shenzhen Jianchen Technology Corporation (“Jianchen
Technology™), as to 50% and 50%, respectively.

On April 18, 2023, Weikang Lanyuan (Shenzhen) Information Technology Co., Ltd. (“Weikang Lanyuan”)
was incorporated as a wholly foreign owned enterprise, which was wholly owned by Blue Dragonfly (HK).

Business transfer of onshore subsidiaries
Business transfer of Shenzhen Ningyuan

Shenzhen Ningyuan was principally engaged in providing digital healthcare and wellness solutions.
During the Reorganization, Shenzhen Ningyuan transferred its business except for the hospital full-
process system services to Weikang Zhiyuan. Upon completion of the Reorganization, Shenzhen
Ningyuan is primarily engaged in the provision of the hospital full-process system services.

Business transfer of Hunan Blue Dragonfly Internet Technology Co., Ltd.

Hunan Blue Dragonfly Internet Technology Co., Ltd. (“Blue Dragonfly Internet”) was principally engaged
in providing software services, including the Blue Dragonfly Infectious Disease Real-time Monitoring
System, and the Blue Dragonfly Hospital Infection Real-time Surveillance System. During the
Reorganization, Blue Dragonfly Internet partially transferred its business to Weikang Lanyuan.

Business transfer of 160 Medicine

On December 13, 2022, Zhejiang Renren’ ai acquired 51% equity interests in Shenzhen Hailiantang
Pharmacy Chain Co., Ltd. (“Hailiantang Pharmacy”) from Mr. Mao Wen, a third party, at a consideration
of RMB383,000 with a call option to buy the remaining 49% equity interests. Upon completion of the
acquisition, Hailiantang Pharmacy became a subsidiary of the Group, and the Group exercised the call
option in November 2023. For more detail, please refer to Note 38.

Guangdong 160 Medicine Chain Co., Ltd. (“160 Medicine”) was primarily engaged in the online and offline
pharmaceuticals retail business. During the Reorganization, 160 Medicine transferred its online
pharmaceuticals retail business to Hailiantang Pharmacy. Upon completion of the Reorganization, 160
Medicine has no substantive business.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General information, Reorganization and basis of presentation (Continued)
Reorganization (Continued)

Entering into of the Contractual Arrangements

On August 11, 2023, Zhejiang Renren’ai entered into the contractual arrangements with Weikang Zhlyuan
and its reglstered shareholder, Jianchen Technology.

On August 11, 2023, Zhejiang Renren’ai entered into the contractual arrangements with Sichuan Renren
Weikang Health Management Co., Ltd. (“Renren Weikang”) and its registered shareholder, Jianchen
Technology.

On October 20, 2023, Zhejiang Renren’ai entered into the contractual arrangements with Shenzhen
Ningyuan and its registered shareholders except for the two shareholders who hold 2.28% equity interest.

See Note 2.3 for details of contractual arrangements.

Acquisition of minority interests in 160 Medicine and 160 Internet

On August 16, 2023, several share swap agreements were entered into by Shenzhen Renren Jiankang
Entrepreneurship Investment Corporation (Limited Partnership) (“Renren Jiankang”) , Shenzhen
Longjun Venture Capital Investment Corporation (Limited Partnership) (“Shenzhen Longjun”),
Changxing Qifu Honglian Equity Investment Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Qifu
Honglian”), Changsha Xiangjiang Qifu Hongtai Private Equity Fund Corporation (Limited Partnership)
(“Qifu Hongtai”) and Guangdong Langge Equity Investment Fund Co., Ltd. (“Guangdong Langge”),
pursuant to which Renren Jiankang acquired 2.38%, 17.15%, 4.76% and 2.38% of the equity interest in
160 Medicine from Shenzhen Longjun, Qifu Honglian, Qifu Hongtai and Guangdong Langge, and
Shenzhen Longjun, Qifu Honglian, Qifu Hongtai and Guangdong Langge were issued with the shares of
the Company as described in Note 32.

Upon completion of such equity transfer, 160 Medicine was held by Shenzhen 160 Internet Technology
Co., Ltd. (160 Internet”) and Renren Jiankang as to 73.33% and 26.67%, respectively and therefore
become a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

On November 22, 2023, Zhejiang Renren’ai acquired 100% equity interest in 160 Internet from Shenzhen
Ningyuan and minority shareholder at the comsideration of RMB1,000,000 and RMB160,000,
respectively. Upon completion of such equity transfer, 160 Internet became a wholly owned subsidiary
under Zhejiang Renren’ai.

Disposal of Jiangsu Huiyi

On January 13, 2023, Shenzhen Ningyuan transferred all of its equity interest, amounting to 51%, in
Jiangsu Huiyi 160 Information Technology Co., Ltd. (“Jiangsu Huiyi”) to a third party at a nominal
consideration. Prior to the disposal, Jiangsu Huiyi was primarily engaged in the provision of medical card
services which is unrelated to the Listing Business. Jiangsu Huiyi is reported as discontinued operation
in the consolidated financial statements.

Financial information relating to the discontinued operation is set out in Note 15.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General information, Reorganization and basis of presentation (Continued)
Reorganization (Continued)

Deregistration of non-operating PRC subsidiaries

The Group deregistered 3 PRC subsidiaries with no actual business operations in July and August 2023.
Pre-IPO investment

On November 16, 2023 and November 21, 2023, Anji Liangshan Guochuang Equity Investment
Partnership (Limited partnership) (“Anji”) (as one of the series E Pre-IPO Investors) subscribed
1,039,069 ordinary shares of the Company at a price of RMB48.12 per share with total consideration of
RMB50,000,000.

Upon completion of the Reorganization, the Company became the holding company of the companies
now comprising the Group.

Basis of presentation

Immediately prior to the Reorganization and during the Relevant Periods, the Listing Business was
primarily conducted through the Operating Entities. Pursuant to the Reorganization, the Listing Business
were transferred to and held by the Company. The Company and those companies newly incorporated
pursuant to the Reorganization have not been involved in any business prior to the Reorganization and
do not meet the definition of a business. The Reorganization is merely a recapitalisation of the Listing
Business with no changes in management of the Listing Business and the ultimate owners of the Listing
Business were substantial the same, although the two shareholders as mentioned in Note 1.2(i)(c) who
collectively owns 2.28% equity interest in Shenzhen Ningyuan have not yet agreed a share swap or
settlement plan with the Group as of completion of Reorganization. Accordingly, the Group resulting from
the Reorganization is regarded as a continuation of the Listing Business under the Operating Entities and,
for the purpose of this report, the consolidated financial statements has been prepared and presented on
a continuation of the consolidated financial statements of Shenzhen Ningyuan, with the assets and
liabilities of the Group recognized and measured at the carrying amounts in the financial statements of
the Operating Entities for all the periods presented.

Basis of preparation

This note provides a list of material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

First time adoption of IFRS Accounting Standards

These financial statements are the first set of consolidated financial statements prepared by the Group in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”), with the initial application date being January 1, 2022. IFRS 1 “First-time adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards” has been applied in preparing these financial statements.
As no financial statements of the Group or the Company have been previously prepared under any other
accounting standards, it is not applicable to present any reconciliation of the Group’s equity and the
Group’s profits or losses and total comprehensive loss as reported under previous accounting standards
to those as reported under IFRS Accounting Standards.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Basis of preparation (Continued) |
Compliance with IFRS Accounting Standards

The consolidated financial statements of the Company has been prepared in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards issued by International Accounting Standards Board (the “IFRS Accounting
Standards™).

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements has been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Control over subsidiaries arising from contractual agreements

On August 11, 2023 and October 20, 2023, the Group’s wholly owned subsidiary, Zhejiang Renren’ai
entered into a series of contractual arrangements with Shenzhen Ningyuan, Weikang Zhiyuan and Renren
Weikang (together, the “Variable Interest Entity companies”, or “VIE companies”) and their majority
nominee shareholders, including exclusive business cooperation agreement, exclusive equity purchase
agreement, equity interest pledge agreement, spousal consent letter and power of attorney (collectively,
the “Contractual arrangements”), which enable Zhejiang Renren’ai:

. Irrevocably exercising equity holders’ voting rights of the VIE companies;
. Exercising effective financial and operational control over the VIE companies; and
+ - Receiving substahtially all of the economic interest returns generated by the VIE companies

As a result of the contractual arrangements, the Group has power over the VIE companies, has rights to
receive variable returns from its involvement with the VIE companies and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the VIE companies and is considered to control the VIE companies.
Consequently, the Company regards the VIE companies as indirect subsidiaries. The Group has
consolidated the financial position and results of the VIE companies in this consolidated financial
statements.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Basis of preparation (Continued)

Going concern

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, and the three months ended March 31, 2025,
the Group incurred net losses of RMB120,065,000, RMB106,199,000, RMB108,246,000 and
RMB17,128,000, respectively, and reported operating cash outflows of RMB42,391,000,
RMB64,526,000, RMB56,047,000 and RMB13,282,000, respectively. As of March 31, 2025, the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by RMB105,190,000 and the Group’s total deficit amounted
to RMB97,821,000. These losses and operating cash outflows were primarily due to increased operating
costs, along with ongoing investments in sales, marketing, and research and development to expand the
medical resources on the Group’s platform, to grow operational scale, and to strengthen the market
position. As of March 31, 2025, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to RMB68,447,000.

The above events and conditions may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern for at least twelve months from March 31, 2025. The directors of the Company have
carefully considered the future liquidity, the operating performance and the available sources of financing
in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern for
at least twelve months from March 31, 2025 taking into consideration the following plans and measures:

. As of March 31, 2025, we had unutilized bank facilities of RMB167,504,000, which were granted
with legally binding agreements. Such unutilized bank facilities can be drawn down subject to
banks' approval and certain financial or operational conditions including but not limited to no
significant changes in the Group’s shareholders, major business, or a decline in creditworthiness.
The directors are confident that the Company will meet such conditions in the next twelve months
from March 31, 2025 and hence these banking facilities will be able to draw down as and when
needed.

. The directors of the Company considered that the Group will be able to refinance existing banking
facilities upon their expiry as and when needed based on past experience and their communication
with the banks. The Group will also seek for new bank borrowings at cost acceptable to the Group.

. Management has implemented a diversified business strategy to capture market opportunities for
revenue growth in digital healthcare and wellness solutions which expects to have positive impact
on operational cash flow in the twelve months following March 31, 2025.

. The Group will also take active measures to control its operating expenditures, monitor its cash
position from time to time and adjust uncommitted expenditure where necessary, to streamlining
administrative expenses, optimizing research and development staffing, strengthening working
capital management, and accelerating collection of trade receivables and loan to related parties.

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projection prepared by management,
which cover a period of not less than twelve months from March 31, 2025. The cash flow projection has
taken into account improvements of its operating performance, continued availability of banking facilities,
growth in the digital healthcare and wellness solutions business, and cost optimization. The directors of
the Company, after making inquiries and considering the basis of management’s projection described
above, believe that there will be sufficient financial resources for the Group to continue its operations and
to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due in the next twelve months from March 31, 2025.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements has been prepared on a going concern basis.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basis of preparation (Continued)

New and amended standards and interpretations adopted by the Group

All effective standards, amendments to standards and interpretations, which are mandatory for the
financial year beginning from January 1, 2025 are consistently applied by the Group for the Relevant
Periods.

New or amended standards and annual improvement not yet adopted

The following new or amended standards and annual impro{/ement have been issued but not been early

adopted by the Group: Effective £ .
eclive for annua

periods beginning on

or after
Classification and Measurement of Financial

Amendment to IFRS g and IFRS 7 Instruments January 1, 2026
Amendment to IFRS Accounting Annual improvements to IFRS Accounting

Standards Standards-Volume 11 January 1, 2026
Contracts  Referencing  Nature-dependent

Amendment to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Electricity ' January 1, 2026
Presentation and Disclosure in Financial

IFRS 18 Statements January 1, 2027
Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:

IFRS 19 Disclosures January 1, 2027
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

Amendments to ITFRS10 and IAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture To be determined

Management is currently assessing the detailed implications of applying these new or revised standards
and annual improvement on the Group’s consolidated financial statements, and it is not expected to have
material impact to the Group other than the application of IFRS 18. IFRS 18 will replace IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements, introducing new requirements that will help to achieve
comparability of the financial performance of similar entities and provide more relevant information and
transparency to users. Even though IFRS 18 will not impact the recognition or measurement of items in
the financial statements, its impacts on presentation and disclosure are expected to be pervasive, in
particular those related to the statement of profit or loss and providing management-defined
performance measures within the financial statements.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
3. Financial risk management
3.1. Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk,
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management procedures focus on the unpredictability of financial markets and seek to minimize potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out by the directors of
the Company and senior management of the Group.

3.1.1. Market risk
(i)  Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognized assets and liabilities are
denominated in a currency that is not the functional currency of the Group entities.

The Group mainly operates in the PRC with majority of the transactions conducted in the functional
currency of the respective group entity. The directors of the Company consider the foreign currency risk
arising from recognized assets and liabilities to be minimal. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is
presented for foreign exchange risk. The Group did not hedge against any fluctuation in foreign currency.
The Group timely monitors foreign exchange risk and will take measure to minimise foreign exchange
risk.

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Financial assets and liabilities with variable interest rate expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk
and financial assets and liabilities with fixed interest rate expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

As at January 1, 2022, December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025, all of the Group’s
borrowings bear interests at fixed interest rates (Note 29). Other than these borrowings and interest-
bearing cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash, the Group has no other significant interest-
bearing assets or liabilities. The Group does not anticipate there is any significant impact resulted from
the changes in interest rate.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Financial risk management (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises mainly from cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade receivables and deposits
and other receivables.

Risk management

To manage credit risk, cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are mainly placed with state-owned
or reputable financial institutions in the PRC, and there has been no recent history of default in relation
to these financial institutions. Thus, the Group were of the view that the credit risk related to cash and
cash equivalents, and restricted cash was insignificant.

To manage the risk arising from trade receivables and deposits and other receivables, the Group has
policies in place to ensure that credit terms are made to counterparties with an appropriate credit history
and the management performs ongoing credit evaluations of its counterparties.

The Group has concentrations of credit risk which arise from trade receivables from its customers. Trade
receivables from the Group’s five largest customers in aggregate account for 63%, 39%, 57%, 18% and 39%
of the Group’s total trade receivables at January 1, 2022 and December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and
March 31, 2025, respectively. If these customers experience financial difficulties in paying the Group, the
Group’s receivables might be adversely affected in terms of recoverability. To manage this risk, the Group
assesses the credit quality of the customers, taking into account their financial position, past trading and
payment experience and forward-looking factors.

For deposits and other receivables, management makes periodic collective assessments as well as
individual assessment on the recoverability of deposits and other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience and other factors.

Impairment of financial assets
Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for the expected credit loss prescribed by IFRS o,
which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been assessed on individual basis or
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics. The expected loss rates are determined based on the
corresponding historical credit losses and adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group has
identified the consumer price index of the PRC in which it sells its goods and services to be the most
relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these
factors.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
3. Financial risk management (Continued)
3.1. Financial risk factors (Continued)
3.1.2. Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

The loss allowance as at January 1, 2022, December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025 was
determined as follows for trade receivables from customers which have been grouped based on similar

credit risk characteristics:

(Unaudited) Within one  One to two Twoto  Over three
As at January 1, 2022 year years three years years Total
On collective basis
Expected loss rate 4.17% 10.38% 25.70% 98.77% 5.38%
Gross carrying amount — trade 83,147 5,770 1,650 406 90,973
receivables (in RMB’000)
Loss allowance (in RMB’000)
- From continuing operations (3,468) (599) (424) (401) (4,892)
On individual basis
Expected loss rate 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Gross carrying amount 112 1,147 1,223 1,317 3,799
(in RMB’000)
Loss allowance (in RMB'000)
- From continuing operations (112) (1,147) (1,223) (1,317) (3,799)
Within one  One to two Twoto  Over three
As at December 31, 2022 year years three years years Total
On collective basis
Expected loss rate 4.48% 12.24% 28.70% 63.16% 7.54%
Gross carrying amount — trade
receivables (in RMB’000) 56,373 7,983 3,230 1,189 68,775
Loss allowance (in RMB’000)
- From continuing operations (2,528) (977) (927) (751) (5,183)
On individual basis
Expected loss rate 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Gross carrying amount
(in RMB’000) 81 518 1,230 2,449 4,278
Loss allowance (in RMB’000)
- From continuing operations (81) (518) (1,230) (2,449) (4,278)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial risk management (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

As at December 31, 2023

On collective basis

Expected loss rate
Gross carrying amount — trade
receivables (in RMB’000)

Loss allowance (in RMB’000)
- From continuing operations

On individual basis
Expected loss rate
Gross carrying amount
(in RMB’000)
Loss allowance (in RMB’000)
- From continuing operations

As at December 31, 2024

On collective basis

Expected loss rate
Gross carrying amount — trade
receivables (in RMB’000)

Loss allowance (in RMB’000)
- From continuing operations

On individual basis
Expected loss rate
Gross carrying amount
(in RMB’000)
Loss allowance (in RMB'000)
- From continuing operations

Within one One to two Two to. Over three
year years three years years Total
4.82% 17.22% 55.74% 95.55% 8.63%
115,923 6,776 4,015 2,245 128,959
(5,585) (1,167) (2,238) (2,145) (11,135)
100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
64 1,342 400 3,845 5,651
(64) (1,342) (400) (3,845) (5,651)
Within one  One to two Twoto  Over three
year years three years years Total
5.54% 20.83% 26.32% 90.38% 9.05%
160,422 19,713 4,377 3,139 187,651
(8,887 (4,106) (1,152) (2,837) (16,982)
100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
596 972 1,403 5,019 7,990
(596) (972) (1,403) (5,019) (7,990)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Financial risk management (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Within one One to two Two to Over three

As at March 31, 2025 year years three years years Total
On collective basis
Expected loss rate - 5.63% 21.15% 28.32% 89.60% 9.26%
Gross carrying amount — trade

receivables (in RMB’000) 159,992 16,201 5,173 3,607 184,973
Loss allowance (in RMB’000)
- From continuing operations (9,012) (3,427) (1,465) (3,232) (17,136)
On individual basis
Expected loss rate 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Gross carrying amount

(in RMB’000) 84 1,163 1,403 5,383 8,033
Loss allowance (in RMB’000)
- From continuing operations (84) (1,163) (1,403) (5,383) (8,033)

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery includes, amongst other, the failure of a debtor to engage
in a repayment plan within the Group.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as net impairment losses on financial assets within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same
line item.

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March 31,
2025 and reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows:

Three

months

ended

Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Opening loss allowance at beginning of the year/period 8,691 9,461 16,786 24,972

Net expected credit losses recognized in profit or loss during

the year/period from continuing operations 770 7,325 8,186 197
Closing loss allowance at end of the year/period 9,461 16,786 24,972 25,169
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Financial risk management (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Deposits and other receivables

Deposits and other receivables were mainly deposits and receivable from third parties and amounts due
from related parties. The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of the assets
and whether there has been significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each
reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group compares risk
of a default occurring on the assets as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial

recognition.

It considers available reasonable and supportive forward-looking information. Especially the following
indicators are incorporated:

. actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the debtors’ ability to meet its obligations;

. actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the debtors;
. significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtors; or
. s1gn1f1cant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the debtors, lncludlng changes

in the payment status of debtors, etc.

Deposits and other receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such
as a debtor failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group. Where deposits and other receivables
have been written off, the Group continues to engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the
receivable due. Where recoveries are made, these are recognized in profit or loss.

The Group reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each individual receivable to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. Over the term of the financial assets, the Group
accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for expected credit losses on a timely basis.
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Financial risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Deposits and other receivables (Continued)

The Group uses the expected credit loss model to determine the expected loss provision for deposits and
other receivables. A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group’s expected credit loss model is

as follows:

Basis for recognition of expected
Category Group definition of category credit loss provision
Stage 1 12 months expected losses. Where the
Customers have a low risk of default and a expected lifetime of an asset is less
strong capacity to meet contractual cash than 12 months, expected losses are
flows measured at its expected lifetime

Stage 2 Receivables for which there is a significant

increase in credit risk as significant

increase in credit risk is presumed if

interest and/or principal repayments are
30 days past due Lifetime expected losses

Stage 3 Either interest and/or principal repayments

are 90 days past due or the debtor has
significant financial difficulties or is likely to
go bankrupt or other financial restructuring

Lifetime expected losses

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

RMB’000 RMB’'oo0 RMB’ooo RMB’000
Deposits and other receivables
(Unaudited)
As at January 1, 2022
Gross carrying amount 26,239 - 62 26,301
Loss allowance provision (291) - (62) (353)
At December 31, 2022
Gross carrying amount 8,797 - 491 9,288
Loss allowance provision (80) - (491) (571)
At December 31, 2023
Gross carrying amount 9,145 - 197 9,342
Loss allowance provision (382) - (197) (579)
At December 31, 2024
Gross carrying amount 15,133 - 225 15,358
Loss allowance provision (452) - (225) (677)
At March 31, 2025
Gross carrying amount 17,170 - 288 17,458
Loss allowance provision (480) - (288) (768)
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
3. Financial risk management (Continued)
3.1. Financial risk factors (Continued)
3.1.2. Credit risk (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Deposits and other receivables (Continued)

The loss allowance for deposits and other receivables as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March
31, 2025 reconciles to the opening loss allowance as follows:

Deposits
and other
receivables
RMB’o00
Opening loss allowance as at January 1, 2022 353
Increase in loss allowance recognized in profit or loss during the year
- Continuing operations 252
- Discontinued operation 91
Closing loss allowance as at December 31, 2022 » 696
- Continuing operations 571
- Discontinued operation 125
Increase in loss allowance recognized in profit or loss during the year
- Continuing operations 8
Derecognition of discontinued operation-Disposal of Jiangsu Huiyi (125)
Closing loss allowance as at December 31, 2023 579
Increase in loss allowance recognized in profit or loss during the year
- Continuing operations : 98
Closing loss allowance as at December 31, 2024 677
Decrease in loss allowance recognized in profit or loss during the period
- Continuing operations 91
Closing loss allowance as at March 31, 2025 768
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Financial risk management (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents. Due to the
dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the policy of the Group is to regularly monitor the Group’s
liquidity risk and to maintain adequate cash and cash equivalents to meet the Group’s liquidity
requirements.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on their

contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows
excluding liabilities directly associated with the assets classified as held for sales. Balances due within 12

months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

On
demand
orless Between1i Between 2
(Unaudited) than1 and 2 and 5 More than Carrying
As at January 1, 2022 year years years 5 years Total value
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB0o0  RMB'000
Trade and bill payables 73,873 - - - 73,873 73,873
Accruals and other payables
(excluding VAT and other
taxes payables and payroll
and welfare payables) 77,522 - - - 77,522 77,522
Lease liabilities 7,517 7,493 4,808 - 19,818 18,199
Bank borrowings 42,498 - - - 42,498 40,585
Redemption liabilities 27,436 299,965 - - 327,401 284,608
228,846 307,458 4,808 - 541,112 494,787
On
demand
orless Between1i Between 2
than1 and 2 and 5 More than Carrying
At December 31, 2022 year years years 5 years Total value
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Trade and bill payables 56,159 - - - 56,159 56,159
Accruals and other payables
(excluding VAT and other
taxes payables and payroll
and welfare payables) 65,675 - - - 65,675 65,675
Lease liabilities 8,835 5,430 877 110 15,252 14,270
Bank borrowings 20,425 1,611 - - 22,036 21,058
Redemption liabilities 299,965 - - - 299,965 204,183
451,059 7,041 877 110 459,087 451,345
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Financial risk management (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

On
demand
orless Betweeni Between 2
than1 and 2 and 5 More than Carrying
At December 31, 2023 year years years 5 years Total value
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'oo0o
Trade and bill payables 96,375 - - - 96,375 96,375
Accruals and other payables
(excluding VAT and other
taxes payables and payroll
and welfare payables) 78,632 - - - 78,632 78,632
Lease liabilities 7,602 7,738 11,968 - 27,398 22,662
Borrowings 9,801 517 - - 10,318 10,000
192,500 8,255 11,968 - 212,723 207,669
On
demand
orless Between1i Between 2
than 1 and 2 and 5 More than Carrying
At December 31, 2024 year years years 5 years Total __value
RMB’co0 RMB’ooo RMB’000 RMB’000 RMPB’000 RMP’o00
Trade and bill payables 102,627 - - - 102,627 102,627
Accruals and other payables
(excluding VAT and other
taxes payables and payroll
and welfare payables) 81,387 - - - 81,387 81,387
Lease liabilities 7,997 7,151 5,448 - 20,596 19,002
Borrowings 91,869 1,344 - - 03,213 90,670
283,880 8,495 5448 - 297,823 293,686
On
demand
orless Between1i Between 2
than1 and 2 and5 More than Carrying
At March 31, 2025 year years years 5 years Total value
RMPB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Trade and biH payables 90,809 - - - 90,809 90,809
Accruals and other payables
(excluding VAT and other
taxes payables and payroll
and welfare payables) 80,758 - - - 80,758 80,758
Lease liabilities 7,916 6,974 3,524 - 18,414 14,085
Borrowings 118,256 1,613 - - 119,869 116,058
297,739 8,587 3,524 - 309,850 301,710
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Financial risk management (Continued)

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
conecern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend
payment, issue new shares and new debt as well as obtain financial support from its shareholders as and
when necessary.

Fair value estimation

Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair values of the financial
instruments that are recognized and measured at fair value in the consolidated financial statements. To
provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, the Group has
classified its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards.
Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and trading and available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of
each of the reporting periods. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-
the-counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which maximize the use of observable
market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to

fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities.

The Group did not have any financial assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value as at January
1, 2022 and December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025.

There was no transfer of fair value hierarchy levels during the Relevant Periods.
Valuation process and technique used to determine fair value
Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

* Discounted cash flow model and unobservable inputs mainly including assumptions of expected future
cash flows and discount rate.

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the Relevant Periods.

The fair value of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, restricted cash and cash and cash
equivalents approximated to their carrying amounts.

The fair value of trade and bill payables, accruals and other payables (excluding VAT and other taxes

payables, payroll and welfare payables), borrowings, redemption liabilities and lease liabilities
approximated to their carrying amounts.
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Financial risk management (Continued)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

The Group does not have any financial assets carried at fair value as of January 1, 2022 and December 31,
2022, 2023, 2024 and March 31, 2025.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will
seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s
accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Contractual arrangements

As mentioned in Note 2.4, the Group transferred some businesses to its VIE companies during the
Reorganization due to regulatory restrictions on the foreign ownership in these businesses in the PRC.
The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group has control over the VIE companies,
has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the VIE companies and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the VIE companies. The directors of the Company, based on the
advice of its legal counsel, consider that the contractual agreements among the VIE companies and their
nominal shareholders are in compliance with the relevant PRC laws and regulations and are legally
enforceable. After assessment, the directors of the Company concluded that the Group has control over
the VIE companies as a result of the contractual agreements and accordingly the financial position and
operating results of these VIE companies are included in the consolidated financial statements.

Nevertheless, the contractual agreements may not be as effective as direct legal ownership in providing
the Group with direct control over the VIE companies and uncertainties presented by the PRC legal
system could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of the VIE
companies. Significant judgement is involved in determining whether the Group is able to control these
entities through these contractual arrangements.

Impairment of trade receivables and other financial assets

The Group follows the guidance of IFRS 9 when assessing the expected credit losses of trade receivables
and other financial assets that measured at amortised cost. The determination of expected credit losses
rate requires significant judgment and estimation. In making this judgment and estimation, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the aging of these receivables and the financial position and collection
history of debtors and expected future changes in credit risks, including the consideration of factors such
as general economy measure, changes in macroeconomic indicators etc. Further details are 1ncluded in
Note 3.1.2 to the consohdated financial statements.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements (Continued)
Recognition and estimation of redemption liabilities

As mentioned in Note 32, the Group had issued ordinary shares with redemption rights to the investors
in certain rounds of investments, the obligation to redeem the ordinary shares of the Group under certain
circumstance which is out of the control of the Group was accounted for as redemption liabilities. The
redemption liabilities were initially and subsequently measured at present value of the estimated
redemption amount, which is determined by the management in accordance with the terms under
investment agreement and involved the use of significant accounting estimates and judgments.

Recognition of share-based payment expenses

As disclosed in Note 28, the Group granted share options or shares to the Group’s employees or other
parties, which are viewed as share-based payment transaction in substance. These transactions resulted
in the recognition of share-based payment expenses. The directors of the Company have used the
discounted cash flow method and back-solve method to determine the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. Significant estimate on assumptions, such as the risk-free interest rate, expected volatility,
dividend yield and discount for lack of marketability are made based on management’s best estimates.

Income taxes and deferred taxations

There are many transactions and events for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of the Group’s business. Significant judgments are required from the Group in
determining the provisions for income taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

The Group recognizes deferred income tax assets based on estimates that it is probable to generate
sufficient taxable profits in the foreseeable future against which the deductible losses will be utilized. The
recognition of deferred income tax assets mainly involves management’s judgments and estimations
about the timing and the amount of taxable profits of the companies who has tax losses.

No deferred income tax asset has been recognized in respect of such tax losses due to the unpredictability
of future taxable income as of January 1, 2022, December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025.

Segment information

The Group is principally engaged in sales of pharmaceutical and healthcare products, as well as provision
of digital healthcare and wellness solutions and related services.

The Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) has been identified as the executive directors, who
reviews the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources. The CODM
assesses the performance of the Group’s business activities as a whole on a regular basis and consider that
the Group has only one reportable segment. Accordingly, no segment information is presented.

The Company is domiciled in the Cayman Islands while the Group operates its business in the PRC and

earns all of the revenue from external customers in the PRC. Substantially all of the Group’s non-current
assets are located in the PRC.
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Revenue

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
Continuing operations
Revenue from contracts with
customers:
- Sales of pharmaceutical and
healthcare products 384,718 451,044 426,525 62,698 67,201
- Provision of digital healthcare and
wellness solutions 140,928 177,562 194,157 31,467 33,274
525,646 628,606 620,682 94,165 100,475
The timing of revenue recognition of the Group’s revenue was as follows:
Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'ooo RMB’000 RMB’oco0
(Unaudited)
Ata point in time 458,190 542,717 526,556 75,165 79,299
Over time 67,456 85,889 94,126 19,000 21,176
525,646 628,606 620,682 94,165 100,475

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the three months ended March 31, 2024 and
2025, revenue derived from customers who accounted for more than 10% of total revenue were set out
below:

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
(Unaudited)
Customer 1 16.4% ) * * * *
Customer 2 * * 17.7% 56.4% *
Customer 3 * * * * 21.6%
Customer 4 oo * * * i 15.2%

* The respective customer contributed less than 10% of Group’s total revenue for the corresponding year
as indicated.
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Revenue (Continued)

Contract liabilities

The Group has recognized the following liabilities related to contracts with customers:

As at As at
January 1, As at December 31, March 31,
2022 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Unaudited)

Current portion 24,157 36,395 39,728 41,446 54,601
Non-current portion 20,905 19,733 5,974 1,863 1,425
45,062 56,128 45,702 43,309 56,026

Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from digital healthcare and wellness solutions business, in
which advance payments were made by customers while the underlying services or goods are yet to be

provided.

(i) Revenue recognized in relation to contract liabilities

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognized during the reporting periods relates to

carried-forward contract liabilities.

Three months ended

Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)

Revenue recognized in relation to contract
liabilities that was included in the
contract liabilities balance at the

beginning of the year/period 24,157 36,395 39,728 7,074 6,096

Unsatisfied long-term contracts

The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations resulting from long-term contracts:

Three months ended

Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’o000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00
(Unaudited)

Aggregate amount of the transaction price
allocated to long-term services contracts
that are partially or fully unsatisfied as at

the end of year/period 12,703 15,179 17,552 16,812 13,635

Management expects that unsatisfied performance obligations of approximately RMB8,591,000,
RMB11,379,000, RMB13,520,000, RMB13,176,000 and RMB9,598,000 as at December 31, 2022, 2023 .
and 2024 and March 31, 2024 and 2025, respectively will be recognized as revenue within 1 year and the
remaining amount of approximately RMB4,112,000, RMB3,800,000, RMB4,032,000, RMB3,636,000

and RMB4,037,000 will be recognized as revenue in the following 2 to 5 years.

Some revenue is recognized based on the progress of completion of the performance obligations and the
Group has the right to invoice the customer for an amount that directly corresponds to the value of the
Group’s performance to date. As permitted under IFRS 15, practical expedient is applied and unsatisfied
performance obligations relating to these contracts with customers is not disclosed.
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Revenue (Continued)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition

Sales of pharmaceutical and healthcare products

The Group sells pharmaceutical and healthcare products to wholesalers and individual customers.
Wholesales

For wholesales, sales revenue is recognized when control of the products has transferred, being when the
pharmaceutical and healthcare products are delivered to the wholesaler, the wholesaler has full discretion
over the channel and price to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
wholesaler’s acceptance of the products. Delivery does not occur until the products have been shipped to
the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the wholesaler, and
either the wholesaler has accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance
provisions have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been
satisfied.

The Group recognizes revenue based on the price specified in the sales orders (excluding value-added
taxes (“VAT”)), net of discounts and return allowances. No significant element of financing is deemed
present as the sales are generally made without prescribed credit terms in the sales contracts, but
customers usually take 1 to 3 months to settle the receivables, which is consistent with market practice. A
receivable is recognized when the products are delivered as this is the point in time that the consideration
is unconditional because only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.

Retail sales

For retail sales, the Group sells pharmaceutical and healthcare products through its self-operated online
stores and third-party online platforms.

The third-party online platforms only provide a platform for the Group to display and sell products. In
this business model, the end customers are regarded as the customers of the Group. The Group is charged
by the third-party online platform for usage fees based on a percentage of sales generated from the online
stores.

The Group offers its customers an unconditional right of return for a period of seven days on sales from
online platforms following the receipt of products by end customers. The directors of the Company
consider return allowances are immaterial based on historical experiences.

The Group recognizes revenue based on the price specified in the sales orders (excluding VAT), net of

discounts, return allowances and revenue is recognized upon the time when the pharmaceutical and
healthcare products are accepted by customers.
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Revenue (Continued)

Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)

Digital healthcare and wellness solutions

The digital healthcare and wellness solutions encompass various components, including online marketing
solutions for medical and healthcare institutions and third-party merchants, digital hospital solutions for
medical and healthcare institutions, and online healthcare services for individual users.

Online marketing solutions

The Group provides comprehensive and customer-oriented online marketing solutions to medical and
healthcare institutions and third-party merchants, with the aim of enhancing their brand awareness and
attracting more patients or individual users.

s Marketplace solutions

Traffic optimization services

The Group offers value-added traffic distribution services to medical institutions for providing.
online appointment services through the Group’s platform, as well as promoting their consumer
healthcare packages. Upon completion of the healthcare services, the Group charges commission
fees based on the transaction amount of the consumer healthcare packages purchased on the
platform. Revenue from traffic optimization services is recognized upon completion of each
service.

Platform management solutions

The Group launched 160 cloud hospital for seamless cloud hospital operations. Through this Al-
empowered platform, the Group provides medical and healthcare institutions with cloud hospital
services.

The Group charges fixed platform subscription fee to medical and healthcare institutions when
they connect to the Group’s platform and recognizes revenue over the contractual service period
of each subscription.

Pharmacy marketplace services

The Group offers third-party merchants online pharmacy marketplace services, through which
third-party merchants sell their products, including pharmaceuticals and medical equipment, on
the Group’s platform or the Group’s online stores in third-party online platforms. The Group
charges commission fees based on the sales amount generated through the Group’s platform or
on the Group’s online stores in third-party online platforms. Revenue from pharmacy
marketplace services is recognized upon completion of each sale of pharmaceutical and
healthcare products.

e Online advertising solutions

The Group provides various online advertising options for medical and healthcare institutions to
display their advertisement within the apps of the Group, aiming to drive traffic to their proprietary
sites. The online advertising options include splash screen, banners, and headline options. The fees
charged from the services are recognized when the related performance obligation is satisfied.
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Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)
Digital healthcare and wellness solutions (Continued)

e Digital hospital solutions

The Group offers proprietary hospital management systems to medical and healthcare institutions to
support their digital transformation in terms of in-hospital disease prevention and management and
to build up full-process systems to streamline the medical process.

Generally, contracts for the sales of software related to hospital management systems require the
Group to provide after-sales maintenance services for a specific period (normally 1-3 years). Contracts
which bundled sales of software and after-sale maintenance services are comprised of two
performance obligations because the promises to transfer the software and provide after-sale services
are distinct and separately identifiable.

Accordingly, revenue related to software sales is recognized at the point in time when the software is
delivered to and accepted by the customers as the related software is available for customer’s use since
then and the control of software is transferred to the customers at that time. The revenue from
provision of maintenance services is recognized over the period that the maintenance service is
provided.

e Online healthcare services

The Group provides registered doctors with convenient access to conduct online consultation to
individual users through self-operated platform. The Group charges the registered doctors
commission fees based on a pre-agreed percentage of the service fees paid by individual users for
online medical consultations services. For the commission fees charged by times, revenue is
recognized upon completion of each service.

e Others

The Group also provides other services to medical and healthcare institutions as well as individuals,
including technical services, such as marketing toolkits services, and individual membership services
which consist of a variety of value-added services. Revenue is recognized upon the completion of the
services or ratably over the service period depending on the terms and conditions of the contracts and
also the model of controls transferring.
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Expenses by nature

Expenses included in cost of sales and services, selling and marketing expenses, administrative expenses

and research and development expenses are analyzed as follows:

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’oo00 RMB’o00 RMB’oo00 RMB’o00 RMB’oo0
(Unaudited)
Continuing operations:

Cost of inventory sold 364,779 440,765 419,442 61,134 66,165
Employee benefit expenses (Note 11) 140,201 170,726 204,814 52,533 36,194
Marketing and advertisement expenses 18,966 10,265 9,332 1,245 667
Technical services fee 24,725 30,280 18,464 3,718 2,106
Business development and travel expenses 13,700 18,262 16,095 4,175 3,026
Depreciation of - -
- property and equipment (Note 18) 2,909 3,342 2,002 904 552
- right-of-use assets (Note 19) 7,846 7,747 7,438 2,787 1,841
Provision for impairment of inventories 1,304 - - - -
Platform usage expenses 2,845 981 893 33 130
Office expenses 5,205 4,424 5,483 1,186 716
Professional services fee 3,024 5,189 6,670 1,089 1,026
Storage and logistics fees 3,945 3,278 2,785 367 342
Amortization of intangible assets (Note 20) 490 542 486 121 121
- Statutory audit services 35 5 71 16 12

Listing expenses (including reporting
accountant service fees) - 20,037 16,789 3,208 2,156
Others 8,692 8,616 9,599 2,517 617
598,666 724,459 721,263 135,033 115,671

Net provision/ (reversal) of impairment losses on financial assets

Three months ended

Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
Continuing operations
Net provision/(reversal) of impairment
losses on trade receivables 770 7,325 8,186 (689) 197
Net provision of impairment losses on
deposits and other receivables 252 8 98 89 91
1,022 7,333 8,284 (600) 288
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Other income

Continuing operations
VAT refund and VAT deduction
Government grant (i)

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)

3,958 3,078 2,421 4 1
3,223 1,349 1,407 1,162 243
7,181 4,427 3,828 1,166 244

The government grants mainly represent research and development subsidies awarded by the local
governments to support the Group’s operations. There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies

attached to these grants.

Other (losses)/gains, net

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
Continuing operations
Net losses on disposal of property and
equipment (@) (26) 9 - (12)
Net gains/(losses) on early termination of
leases 16 - (2) - (520)
Provision for litigation loss
(Note 31(iv)) (12,400) (385) - - -
Exchange (losses)/gains, net - (330) 418 - -
Others 63 (20) 4 9 51
(12,323) (761) 411 9 (481)
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Employee benefit expenses

Continuing operations

Wages, salaries and bonuses

Pension costs ~ defined contribution plan
®

Other social security costs and housing
benefits

Share-based payment expenses (Note 28)

Termination benefits

Other employee welfare

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’o00 RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’o00
(Unaudited)

126,158 109,867 131,209 30,892 24,914
3,918 3,232 5,328 1,129 1,235
4,683 4,303 4,510 1,123 1,200

- 46,424 59,983 18,506 7,809

2,550 4,680 1,967 233 624
2,892 2,220 1,817 650 412
140,201 170,726 204,814 52,533 36,194

Pension costs — defined contribution plan

Employees of the group companies in the PRC are required to participate in a defined contribution
retirement scheme administered and operated by the local municipal government. The Group contributes
funds which are calculated on fixed percentage of the employees’ salary (subject to a floor and cap) as set
by local municipal governments to each scheme locally to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for each of the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 include 1, 2,
2, 2 and 3 directors, respectively, whose emoluments are disclosed in the Note 40. The aggregate amounts
of emoluments for the remaining 4, 3, 3, 3 and 2 highest paid individuals for each of the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2025, respectively

are as follows:

Three months ended

Continuing operations
Wages, salaries and bonuses

Pension costs — defined contribution plan
Other social security costs and housing
benefits

Share-based payment expenses

Total

Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
3,120 1,852 1,359 434 250
34 28 25 8 7
72 52 31 12 11
- 19,671 20,775 6,259 2,275
3,226 21,603 22,190 6,713 2,543
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Employee benefit expenses (Continued)

Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The emoluments of those individuals fell within the following bands:

Emolument bands (in HKD)
Nil- 1,000,000
1,000,001 — 1,500,000
1,500,001 — 2,000,000
2,000,001 — 2,500,000
2,500,001 — 3,000,000
5,000,001 — 5,500,000
6,500,001 - 7,000,000
7,000,001 — 7,500,000
9,500,000 — 10,000,000
13,000,001 — 13,500,000

Finance costs, net

Continuing operations

Finance income

Interest income on bank deposits

Interest income on loans to related parties

Finance costs

Interest expenses on bank and other
borrowings

Interest expenses on lease liabilities (Note
19)

Interest expenses on redemption liabilities
(Note 32)

Finance costs, net

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
(Unaudited)

2 - - - -

2 - - - 1

- - - - 1

- - - 2 -

- - - 1 -

- 2 - - -

- - 1 - -

- - 1 - -

- - 1 - -

4 3 3 3 2

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)

371 210 42 20 2

- - 15284 - 419

371 210 1,326 20 421
(2,065) (1,463) (2,200) (374) (1,060)
(1,067) (834) (1,456) (391) (333)

(37,012) (9,069) - - .
(40,144) (11,366) (3,656) (765) -(1,393)
(39,773) (11,156) (2,330) (745) (972)

41



®

®

(™
(@

®

(@)

(P
(a)(m
®m

M
®

910N

9%00°'001

%00°00T

9,00°0L

9%00°00T1

%00 00T

%00 00T

%00°00T
9%00°00T

%00°00T

%00°00T

%00 00T

aep
yodaa
Y IV

ra%4

000°‘000“TgINY

000‘000“ TgINY

000‘000‘CgINI

£65VEY 6SIINYG

000°000°SasN

000°000°‘00TgIAT

000‘000°‘0SegINYI
asn

asn

asn

asn

reuden

Arenuep PpoId)siSax/panss]y

9%00°00T 9%00°00T  9%00°00T 9%00°00T 900°'001
9%00°00T  9%00°00T %O00°'00T 9%00°00T  9%00°00T
9%00°0L 900°0L 9%00°04 900°0L 9%00°0L
9%00°00T  %00°00T  9%00'00T  9%00°00T  900°'001
9%00°00T  9%00°00T  9%00°00T - -
9%00°00T  9%00°00T 9%00°'00T 9%00°00T -
9%00°00T 9%00°00T 900°'00T 9%00°00T -
900°001 9%00°00T 900°00T 9%00°00T -
9%00°00T  9%00°00T  9%00°00T %0000 -
9%00°00T  %00°00T %00°00T %00°00T -
9%00°00T  9%00°00T %00'00T 9%00°00T -

G203 Pzoz €zo3z 3303 33T0T
ag 43
YOJRIAI ‘I€ J2qUIDII(] 1B SV

je sy je sy

1saaa1ur AHnba o[qeInquine yo afelusdidJ

Odd 94l
{ssauisnq
ON

0dd ?YL
‘ssaursnq
ON

0dd 2yl
{s9[BS 2IEM]JOS

Jdd @Yyl

‘soo1a10s wnioped
pue aIemijos
04d 3yl ‘Ansnpu]
saoIeg  ASopouyos],
UuoBULIOJU]
AIEMYJOS

0dd ®YyL
{S901AIOS
urzope[d suruQ
0dd ™YL
‘3uIp[oH JusuIISeAU]
guoy] SuoH
{3urpjoH JuswWISoAU]
Suoy] Suoy
{3urpjoy 1uauwsaAu]

[enuelsqns

[enuelsqns

pue

IAd 3L
‘SUIP[OH TUSWIISIAUT
TA9 oYL
‘SUIp[OH JUSUIISAAU]

uonerdo
Jo aoed pue
sonianoe [edourid

2102 ‘82 (237 ¥ Ot 2 2P T S« PYT
Jaquisldag/Ddd  9YL-onSunnsuo) UOIBULIOIU] YI[EdH USIusy noyzduens

1oz (27 3 B A 7 bod 07 BT
‘bz Ame/o¥d YL “Pr1¢0D ASo[ouyoa], w0yl Suensieg reySueys
oz o

‘ot Arenuer/Odd UL, w B X%+ 7 o] BHEFLE 5 B [ Jowtsiu] Ayuofelq snjg

S00Z ‘2T [ Hf EA AR 2L 1, renABUIN UOyZuURYS
Areniqag/0¥d  dYL

€202 (o7 SRR (JIF¥) TYEE T uendue] Sueyiom
‘gt [udy/O¥d Syl

(14014

(22 37 2 B 4 0 3 7 L0 I gt enATYZ SUresTom
‘o€ ounp/D¥d oYL

@c0z (257 8 B 3 S B D) T T usiuay Suerfoyz
‘4z dV/Ddd PYL
220e (IH) Ajuodeaq anig
‘b1 Amp/3uoy SuoH
220T ‘TT (IB) YyI[eaH 091
A1eniqo,/Suoy Suoy
:PIRY Apdaarpuy
2203 juswegeury Ajjuodel( anyg
‘Tz aunf/IAd  9YL
(4014 Jusurefeuey YI[eoH 091
‘g Areniqag/IAg dUL
1PRY AROdIId
JUSUIYST[(eISD QuIeN
Juonexodioour
Jo a1ep pue 3de|d

‘ssoursnq jo soeyd [edourid 1oy} osye st uonjexsigax 10 uorjerodioout jo soe[d oy, *dnois) a3 4q pray s1y3ur 3urjoa sy} 03 senbe pray sysarejul drysoumo
30 uonxodoxd oY) ‘pore)s SSIMISYIO SSO[U[] ‘SOLIBIPISGNS FULMO[[O] S} UI S}SOISJUL JPRIIPUL 10 J0oxp pey Aueduro) oy ‘uoneziuediosy jo uoredwod uodn

SOLIEIpISqNS

SINAWALVLS TVIONVNIA AILVAITOSNOD dHL OL SALON

TALIATT TVNOILLVNIAINI HLTIVAH 091



®

®

®
(sn/(M
®
(/M
@
(an/(®
(an/(m
(/)
M

910N

%00°00T  %00°00T 9%00°00T 9%O00°00T 9%00°00T %00 00T
9%00°00T  %00°00T 9%00°00T 9%00°00T 9%00°00T %00°00T
9%00°00T  9%00°00T 9%00'00T %00'00T %00°00T 900 00T
- - - - %00'1S  %00°'1S
9%00°00T 9%00°00T 9%00°00T 9%00'00T %00'00T 9%00°00T
- - - - %00°66  900°56
%00°00T  9%00°00T %00°00T %00'00T %00'00T  900°00T
- - - - 9%00°00T  9%00°00T
- - - - 9%00°00T  9%00°001
9%00°00T %00°00T %00°00T 9%00°00T %ELEL %LS'89
%00°00T  9%00°00T %00°00L.  %00'00T %00'00T  900°00T
Sgoze ¥zoz €202 33T0T 2TOT
2yep a€ ‘X
110dax PIeN ‘1€ JOqUIADI( Je SY Arenuep
Y1V je sy e sy

159391ur AYbo I qeInqLIne Jo a8ejuddId g

v

000°00Sg N

000‘000°‘00TgINY

000°000°‘0TgINY
000°‘000‘OTg I
000‘000“TgINY
000‘000‘0Tcg N
000‘09T SN
000°000°Gg N
000‘000°‘SgINTT
008C8S P 1gINg

000‘000°‘SIN

rendes
pataisiSaa/poanssy

Ddd ayL
{SSoUISN( [RIURISANS ON

Jdd 9L
‘oo1a10s [epdsoy sunuQ

0dd ¥yl

‘ssaursng [erjueisqns oN
0dd 94L

£SODTATOS PJed [ROIPIIA
Qdd UL

‘Guuare)

0dd UL

{ssauisnq [enueisqns oN
0dd 4L

{ssoursnq [eQUBISYNS ON
Odd @yl

{ssoursnq [enUBISqNS ON
0dd 9yl

‘{ssaursng [enueisqns oN
Odd UL

‘[rejal [eonnsoruLIByJ
Odd ?UL

{SSouISn( [eNIURISYNS ON

uonexddo
Jo ooerd pue
sanianose redourrg

Y10t ‘g A1tenuep/Ddd 9UL : [ERA

A B2k 7 bl T L 397 5 9k 'PYT “00 ABojouRy,
Jouraiu] uenASuiN Sueym Sullleg

120¢ ‘zg [L1dy/O0¥d oYL e A
34 7o 36 T 35 ) ) WA MKl o PYT 00 [endSon
Jpumou] SuBIOM USIUSy nrduenys npSusy)
120z ‘ST [dY/0¥d SUL (27 - e 5 3 83857 ) ) |1 [« SUBIoM UoTUY
L7103 Tg unp/QYd UL [ M BIHYE B\ — DB ThAMH nsSuerp
810z (227 ¥ B & A e N U e
‘Gz 1q0PQ/0dd YL -py] “op yusweZeury SULIGIR) NIORLY USYZUSYS
8103 o7 M B EHEFHY V¥
‘6c  10qOPO/DUd  °UL “p11 07 dnoIH 10190 USIUSY USYZUSYS
9102 (237 B B3 H7 bl e N — L1 ¥k 10U93UT 09T
‘g Ioquadad/Ddd dYL v
810% ‘6¢ YOIEA/DUd AUL [ 8 R
“P¥1 ““0D AS0[0Uy03], YI[BIH NI USYZUSYS
L10z (2 37 2 B M T b 2 N — LI ¥
‘ot Arenuer/pdd YL PY1 0D [eudsoH auuQ 09T UAYZUIYS
€102 ‘1 YPIe /¥ d YL (273 BBR L E L —Y _(PUNIPIN 091
§toz ‘ot Anp/0¥d YL OS85
TR 3 FER D 3 B ) T 1 fy ¢k SuUeLe usIusy
P[Py Ap23IpUr
JUDSUIYST[q IS JuwreN
Juonexod.aodur
Jo ayep pue 208[q

(panunuo)) m&.ﬁ«%«ma—sw ‘€1

SINHWHLV.LS TVIONVNIAd AALVAITOSNOD HHL OL SALON

JHLIATIT TVYNOLLVNYALNI HLTVHAH 091



(D) 9%00°001

(AN/1) 9500001

(AD/(1) %00°001
(D) 9%00°001
(1) 9%00°001

(1) 9%00°00t

(mm)/(M %00 001

(1) %0029

(1) %0029

(D 9%00°09

(1) %0009

(1) %06°LL

910N  2ep

odaax

M IV

144

%00°00T  %00°00T - - 000000 TN 0dd YL (2 7 ] B B4 000 0 38 o AL PY]
{SSOUISN( [eNUEBISNS ON ‘€ AeN /DM d 940D £So[ouyaa], uensyz Suexopm utbsusy reynyz

9%00°00T  9%00°00T 900°001 - - Odd{uL [CRNA=ERE
000°000°‘0SgINY ‘o[esofoym  €z0Z “IT 1sNdny/O¥d YL BREE B oL Tt PYT 0D SUPIpoI HBuIN Suellayz

[eonnaseurIeyd

%00°00T  9%00°001 %00°00T - o ) p 87 & L)W T Lo PYT
’ ’ 000000 EANY {sares oOMMtMm €202 ‘ST Ae /0l oﬁ.roo %woﬁoqnwmvw\_m%ww“\ﬂ%m_wmwﬂ%mww\cW:sE

9%00°00T 9%00°'00T 9%00°00T 9%00°00T - 000‘000‘SqINY 044 YL [ERNA
[TE321 [eonnSOBWLIRY ‘g ounp/pdd YL BB A L T L L | ks AoRWIRYd SueiuelIe

%00°001T  9%00°001 %00°00T - - 000‘000°‘0EGINY D¥d YL 27 M B Y Y 5
{sseulsnq [ERUEISNS ON ‘L Arenuep/Odd 9YL p1T ‘00 AS0[OUYDSL SUPIPIJN [B,UsIUsYy 0epSuId)

%00°00T  9%00°00T %00°001 9%00°00L - 000°‘000°‘0SgINY Odd YL [237 2 B R R 2D SEISE

‘saorares Arenuer/5¥d 4L & ,(,ni3usg SuibSuoyp,) "p¥1 “0p ASojouyday,
uoferd sutuQ uvoneunoyul JuenyoSuon nh3usg SurbSuoy)

9%00°00T  9%00°00T 9%00°00T Y%EEEL 9%IL 19 000‘000°‘OTgINY 044 UL 003 ‘6 sunp/HYd SuL R/

-3[esafoym A B AR 7 3 3 W 1 Iy 2« (PUIDIPOA] TEIUSMINT,)
[EoNNS0BULIBY reuamIny  USYZUays

%00T9  9%00CT9 %00<TY %00TY  9%00TY 000°‘000“TgINY 0¥d oYL (23 B E S B TE WLF¥ suoneiodio)
*S901AI3S ALrenuep/0dd  dYLyusweSeuely IEdH ~ Suenyonpy  USYZUSYS

uuropeld suuQ

%00°C9 %009  %00TY Y%00TY %00TY 9zS‘oTegINY 2¥d YL (237 3 B T 5, 1o 20 3 ) (19 T L [1ff %t

{SOOIAIRS ‘0T JOQUIBAON/D¥WJ YL PYT “0) JucwaSeue Al
uroperd sutuQ duenyonpy  USYZUayg

%00°09 %0009 %0009 %0009 %0009 000000 TN Ddd YL S102 ‘Sz Ae/0dd 2YL (27 ¥ B ZFE 2 ol BB I

{S90IAIOS Y1 oD
uroped sutuQ A3ojoutpa], uwoneulioju] SuemSuowlg USYZUSYS

%0009 %0009 %0009 %0009 %0009 000°‘000°‘SGINY D¥d 92Ul 810% ‘OT 19q010/Ddd 2L =7 E (IE%) BERAR .
“ssoulsnq [ERUEISqNS ON "P¥1 “0Q (ueyzusys) A30[0uyda], [EIPIIN FunT

%O06°LL  %O6°LL  %O6°LL  %O6LL  %06°LL TITIT TG N 2¥d YL [ 7 0 B F ek Y 2 LU [V ¥k
‘ssoursnq [enuelsqns oN ‘T IaquisideS/D¥dd YL PY1 “0D ASo[ounda], UIKUY USYZUsys
PRY ARd311pUL

Szoz vzoz €zoz 2TOT 2302
ag ‘1€ 10quIdda( 3B SY ‘1 Teuded uonerado JUQUIYST[(e}SD awreN
Yoxe| Arenuep paxasiSaa/panssy jo aded pue Juoneiodiodur
jesy Sy sonuanoe fediourlg  JO 91ep pue de[J

1so19yu1 APNbo syqeIngrINe Jo 35 IUDIg

(ponunuo)) soLreipisqng  °€x

SINANWALVLS TVIONVNIA GALVATITOSNOD HH.L OL SHLON

ILINATI TVNOLLVNYALINI HLTVAH 091



1914

‘soureu ys13uy [eyjo
JAeY J0u Op £51} sk Aueduro)) 9} JO SI0JDIIP S} JO WO 1S3 Y} JB SSUIBU ISIUTYY) JIOY) JO SUONR[SURI] 918 ) d 9Y3 UL PIYSI[qeIse soruedwod JO Soueu YsISuy YL«

“P¥T ““0D dnois 10100 USIUIY

USYZULYS pue ‘prT 0D ASo[ouyoa], Yyi[eoH N[IX USYZuays ‘P17 “0) [eNdSOH SUI[UQ 09T USYZUIYS 319M YIIyM ‘suotierado ssoursng ou Yim SoLIeIpIisqns ) d 991y}
pa1a1si3a10p pue Y nsSuerp pasodsip dnoro oy} ‘dnois) syl JO SSAUISN] 2100 A1 UO SNOO0J 0] PUR SIIINOSI I9Y10 pue Juswageuewr 8y} oziwrdo 03 ‘€z0z ug
‘A[Surpuodsaiiod

9600°001 03 pasearoul Aueduro) 9y} Aq A[JO2IIPUL P[OY SURIPSA TeIUaMINy Jo Surpjoyateys ay], "Aueduwio) sy} JO AIRIPISGNS POUMO AJ[OYM B SUIBIS( SI0JOI9U}
pue A[9A1109dsoI ‘9L9'9T pue %EE EL 0} Se SueNUeIP USIUSY PUB JPUISUI 09T Aq P[AY Sem SUIPIN 09T ‘Iejsuer) Aymba yons jo uonedwiod uod) ‘siseIaul
SUI[[OIIU0D-UOU S QUDIPIIN 09T WOIJ SUDIPIJN 09T Ul }saxajur Anba 2y Jo %49 9 axmboe 0] peaide Suequelf USIUSY YIIYM O} Juensind ‘s1sa1ajul SUI[[OIFUOD
-UOU S UIOIPIJA 09T PUE SUeUeI( USIUSY A] OJUI PAISIUD 9I9M SyuduIadISe 1ojsuer) A)nba [e1aass ‘€20z ‘91 1snSny uQ “AGurpuodssl1od 94989 A(q pasearour
UeNASUIN USYZUSYS A A[OSITPUT P[] SUIOIPIN [BIUSMITTY JO SUTP[OYRIRTS ST, 'S[RISP 10J (B)SE 910N 99§ "51$912]UT SUI[[OIFUOI-UOU Y} WIOL] SUIDIPIAT TEIUIMINY
JO Surp[oYaIeYS 9%0T paImboe IOYMNJ SUIOIPSIA 09T ‘Tg0T U *A[Burpuodsariod 9494 b Aq paseardour uenASuIN Usyzusys Aq A[19sIIpUl P[oy SUIPSTA leluamIny Jo
Surproyaeys oy ], *s1ySL1 uor1dWapaI YIM SISP[OYSIRYS S,9UIIPIIA O9T WIOI] SUIIPIJA 09T JO SUIP[OYDILRYS %9t peamboe 1oyuny uend3uiN Usyzusys ‘1g0e uJ

*€203 ‘T I9qUIOdd(] PIPUR Ied4 39U} 10} SURIUNOIIY JI[qNJ PIYIIILS) UeUSUr] UIYZUSyS
Aq PoNIPNE 3I9M SJUSWIL]R]S [RIOUBUT) AI0JNIRIS S, ‘P30T PUR 30T ‘I I9qUISda(] POPUS SIeaA 9] 0] POnssI Sem JUSWIDIL]S [RlourUY pajpne A10njels oN (p)

#2032 pue £302 ‘6203 ‘I€ I0qUS09(] POPUS SIBIA 9} 10} "P¥T 0D Wil Surunodoy uojuoyy ueuny Aq poipne aIom SJUSW)e)s [eroueury A1onyels oy, (2)

b30g ‘I€ IqUID0d(] PIPUL JedK Y} J0J SJUBIUNOIIY O1[qNd PeyYNIe)) sifSuoyzeny uoyzuays Aq payIpne sem SJUSUISIL)S [BIOUBUIL] AIOJNJe)S
9y ], "€30T puUR 20T ‘IE DU PIPUS SIBIA 31[) 0] SIUBIUNOIOY JI[qNd PIUIMLS) UeuSur] USYZUYS AQ PalIpNe olom Sjuswslels [eroueuly Aromjels ayy, (q)

‘b20g pue £303 ‘330T ‘TE JoqUID0(] POPUS SIBIA 91} 0] '00) 2 oMY 2AB(J A] PRIIPNE oJoM SJUSWISTR]S [BloURUl) A10Inlels ay], (e)

{SMO[JO] SB 919M SPOLISJ JUBAS[SY Y} 10] Soruedod 9533 JO sToRpNe Aromnyels oy L,

‘uonjerodroout Jo wonIIPSLN{ 3] Ul SUCTIBNISAT pUR SO JURAS[RI 9} I9pun sjuowraimbal jipne A10injels 01 109[qns 10U oIom SOTIIUS Sy,
(penunuo)) saLrerpisqng

SINHWHLVIS TVIONVNIA ALVAI'TOSNOD AH.L OL SALON

JALINTT TVNOLLVNYALNI HLTVHH 091

(A

(m)

(m

€1



14.

(a)

(b)

()

160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income tax expenses

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
. (Unaudited)

Current income tax - 1,373 1,670 900 635
Deferred income tax - (826) (380) (175) (200)

Income tax expense - 547 1,290 725 435

Cayman Island and BVI income tax

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and is not subject to the Cayman Islands income tax
pursuant to the current laws of the Cayman Islands. The group entity incorporated or registered under
the Business Companies Act of BVI are exempted from BVI income tax pursuant to the current laws of
the BVL

Hong Kong profits tax

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HKD 2 million of profits of the qualifying group
entities will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HKD 2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of the
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%. No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided as there was no estimated assessable profit in
Hong Kong during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the three months ended
March 31, 2024 and 2025.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

CIT in the PRC is calculated based on the statutory profit or loss of subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC
in accordance with the PRC tax laws and regulations, after adjusting certain income and expense items,
which are not assessable or deductible for income tax purposes.

According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law promulgated by the PRC government, the tax rate of
160 Medicine is 25% during the Relevant Periods.

In 2023, Ruiwentai Medicine and Chongqing Pengyu were no longer small scale entities, and the CIT rate
applicable to these two companies are 25% from January 1, 2023 onwards (2.5% prior to January 1, 2023).

In 2024, Zhejiang Renren’ai and 160 Internet were no longer small scale entities, and the CIT rate

applicable to these three companies are 25% from January 1, 2024 onwards (2.5% prior to January 1,
2023 and 5% prior to January 1, 2024).
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Income tax expenses (Continued)

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”) (Continued)

On November 9, 2018, Shenzhen Ningyuan was qualified as High and New Technology Enterprises
(“HNTEs”) under the relevant PRC laws and regulations. Accordingly, Shenzhen Ningyuan were entitled
to a preferential income tax rate of 15% for a three-year period commencing 2018. This HNTEs status of
Shenzhen Ningyuan has subsequently been approved to be renewed for another three-year terms in
November 2021 and December 2024, respectively. Accordingly, Shenzhen Ningyuan was entitled to a
preferential income tax rate of 15% during the Relevant Periods.

Blue Dragonfly Internet had obtained the relevant approval from relevant tax bureau as “Software
Enterprise” in 2019. Therefore, Blue Dragonfly Internet was exempt from CIT for two years, followed by
a 50% reduction in the applicable tax rates (i.e. 12.5%) for the following three years, commencing from
the first year of profitable operation after offsetting tax losses generating from prior years. Blue Dragonfly
Internet met the requirements and was entitled to a tax exemption in 2020 and 2021 and a preferential
income tax rate of 12.5% in 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the three months ended March 31, 2024. On 8
December 2023, Blue Dragonfly Internet was awarded the certificate of High and New Technology
Enterprise, which is valid for three years. Accordingly, Blue Dragonfly Internet were entitled to a
preferential income tax rate of 15% for the three months ended March 31, 2025.

On December 26, 2024, Weikang Zhiyuan was qualified as a High and New Technology Enterprises.
Accordingly, Weikang Zhiyuan were entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% in 2024. In 2023,
Weikang Zhiyuan met the criteria of small-scale entities and thus enjoyed the preferential income tax
policy, with an applicable income tax rate of 5%.

Except for the entities as mentioned above, certain subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC have
been granted with tax concessions for small scale entities by tax authorities in the PRC and enjoy reduced
tax rates ranging from 2.5% to 10% during the Relevant Periods.

According to the relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Administration of Taxation of
the PRC, enterprise engaging in research and development activities are entitled to claim 175% from 2018
onwards of their research and development expenditures incurred as tax deductible expenses when
determining their assessable profits for that year (“Super Deduction”). The additional tax deducting
amount of the qualified research and development expenses has been increased from 175% to 200% for
Blue Dragonfly Internet, effective from 2022 and for the rest enterprises of the Group, effective from 2023,
according to a new tax incentives policy promulgated by the State Tax Bureau of the PRC in March 2022
and April 2023, respectively. The Group has considered the Super Deduction to be claimed for the group
entities in ascertaining their assessable profits during the Relevant Periods.

PRC withholding tax

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations, dividends distributed by a company established in the
PRC to a foreign investor with respect to profit derived after January 1, 2008 are generally subject to a
10% withholding tax. If a foreign investor incorporated in Hong Kong meets the conditions and
requirements under the double taxation treaty arrangement entered into between the PRC and Hong
Kong, the relevant withholding tax rate will be 5%.

As at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025, the aggregated undistributed earnings of
the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC amounted to RMBi18,927,000, RMB30,714,000,
RMB31,167,000 and RMB35,863,000 respectively. However, as the Group didn't have any distributable
earnings available to the offshore companies or the Company, no deferred income tax liability recognized
in the consolidated financial statements.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Income tax expenses (Continued)

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expenses

The taxation on the Group’s losses before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise
using the statutory tax rate of PRC, as follows:

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
Continuing operations
Losses from continuing operations before
income tax (118,957) (110,676) (106,956) (39,838) (16,693)
Tax calculated at the PRC statutory tax rate
of 25% . (29,739) (27,669) (26,739) (9,960) (4.173)
Effects of preferential tax rates applicable to
eligible subsidiaries 10,004 17,671 12,742 4,120 1,529
Super Deduction for research and
development expenses (5,729) (4,399) (6,236) (1,646) (1,207)
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 893 6,587 9,537 3,045 1,337
Tax losses and temporary differences not
recognized for deferred tax assets 24,571 8,776 11,425 4,469 2,621
Utilization of previously unrecognized tax
losses - (419) (166) (30) (107)
Adjustments in respect of current income
tax of previous years - - 727 727 435
Income tax expense - 547 1,290 725 435
Tax losses
As at
January 1, As at December 31, As at March 31,
2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’coo0  RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Unused tax losses for which no deferred
income tax asset has been recognized 627,776 774,280 833,264 887,356 835,773 722,880

The unused tax losses were incurred by subsidiaries that is not likely to generate taxable income in the
foreseeable future. The tax losses shall expire in five or ten years from year of occurrence under current
tax legislation.

As at January 1, 2022, December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2024 and 2025, tax losses of
approximately RMB439,834,000, RMB508,698,000, RMB626,047,000, RMB709,022,000,
RMB627,341,000, RMB538,406,000 which will expire within 5 years and approximately
RMB187,942,000, RMB265,582,000, RMB207,217,000, RMB178,334,000, RMB208,432,000,
RMB184,474,000 which will expire within 10 years, for which no deferred income tax assets were
recognised.
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Discontinued operation

Financial performance and cash flow information

As disclosed in Note 1.2(v), Jiangsu Huiyi is reported as a discontinued operation during the Relevant
Periods. The disposal Jiangsu Huiyi was completed in January 2023.

An analysis of the results and cash flows of the discontinued operation for the years ended December 31,
2022, 2023 and 2024 and the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 is as below:

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’000
(Unaudited)

Statement of profit or loss of the
discontinued operation:

Revenue 2,409 - - - -
Cost of sales and services (15) - - - -
Selling and marketing expenses (1,236) - - - -
Research and development expenses (643) - - - -
Administrative expenses (1,596) - . - - -
Net impairment losses on financial assets (91) - - - -
Other income 68 - - - -
Finance income 5 - - - -
Finance costs (9) - - - -
Loss before income tax (1,108) - - - -
Income tax expenses - - - - -
Loss after income tax (1,108) - - - -
Gain on disposal of Jiangsu Huiyi - 5,024 - - -
(Loss)/profit from the discontinued

operation (1,108) 5,024 - - -

(Loss)/profit from the discontinued

operation attributable to:
- Owners of the Company (565) 5,024 - - -
- Non-controlling interests (543) - - - -
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Discontinued operation (Continued)

(i) Financial performance and cash flow information (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00
(Unaudited)

Statement of cash flows of the
discontinued operation
Net cash generated from operating

activities 252 - - - -
Net cash used in investing activities a7 - - - -
Net cash used in financing activities (145) - - - -
Net cash inflows 90 - - - -

Details of the sale of the subsidiary

Year ended December 31, 2023

RMB’000
Cash consideration -
Less
- Total net liabilities of the subsidiary disposed of 9,851
- Non-controlling interest disposed of (4,827)
Gains on disposal of the subsidiary 5,024

Assets and liabilities of disposal group classified as held for sale

The folloWing assets and liabilities were reclassified as held for sale in relation to the discontinued
operation as at December 31, 2022:

December 31, 2022

RMB’000
Assets classified as held for sale
Property and equipment 38
Right-of-use assets 161
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 13,877
Cash and cash equivalents 1,340
Total assets of disposal group held for sale 15,416
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale
Trade and bill payables 3,004
Accruals and other payables 19,981
Lease liabilities 141
Total liabilities of disposal group held for sale 23,126
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Losses)/ earnings per share

During the Reorganization of the Group, shareholders of Shenzhen Ningyuan swapped its shares in
Shenzhen Ningyuan to the shares of the Company on a 1:1 conversion rate, except the two shareholders
mentioned in Note 1.2(i) who have not yet agreed a share swap or settlement plan with the Group as of
completion of Reorganization.

The 1,567,298 new options were granted to some shareholders as a consideration of giving up 1,567,298

ordinary shares of the Company and these shares were put in the treasury shares pool. However, since
the exercise price of the new options is minimal and there is no substantive attached condition, these
share options are considered to be outstanding ordinary shares and are included in the calculation of
basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) from the date of issuance.

Thus, 57,176,412 shares were deemed to have been allotted and issued by the Company on January 1,
2022 when computing the basic and diluted losses per share for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023
and 2024 and the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2025, and the capital injection to the Group
during the Relevant Periods were considered on a time-weighted basis.

Treasury shares was excluded from the calculation of losses per share.

Basic (losses)/ earnings per share

Three months ended

Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
(Losses)/profit attributable to owners of the
Company for the year/period (RMB’000)
- Continuing operations (110,740) (113,840) (107,687) (38,487) (15,496)
- Discontinued operation (565) 5,024 - - -
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue (000) ) 57,127 58,106 58,790 58,790 58,790
Basic (losses)/earnings per share (RMB
Yuan)
- Continuing operations (1.938) (1.959) (1.832) (0.655) (0.264)
- Discontinued operation (0.010) 0.086 NA NA NA

Diluted (losses)/ earnings per share

The Group has potential dilutive shares in the Relevant Periods, which were ordinary shares with
redemption rights and the share options granted under the Pre-IPO share option scheme of the Company
in the third quarter of 2023.

The Group made a profit from its discontinued operation for the year ended December 31, 2023, the
dilutive EPS attributed to the discontinued operation for that year were RMB 0.084, which were slightly
different from the basic EPS.

Except at disclosed above, the Group were making loss from its continuing operation and discontinued
operation during the Relevant Periods, the inclusion of the potential dilutive ordinary shares would
therefore be anti-dilutive, thus the dilutive EPS were the same as the basic EPS for these respective
years/periods.

The basic and diluted (losses)/earnings per share as presented above has not taken into account the
proposed share subdivision pursuant to the shareholders’ resolution dated September 3, 2025 because
the proposed share subdivision has not become effective at the date of this report.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Dividend

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company or any companies now comprising the Group
during the Relevant Periods.

Property and equipment
Electronic Office Leasehold
equipment equipment Vehicles improvements Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’000
At January i, 2022
(Unaudited)
Cost 12,205 1,035 2,840 2,403 18,483
Accumulated depreciation (8,340) (397) (1,668) (1,644) (12,049)
Net book amount 3,865 638 1,172 759 6,434
Year ended December 31,
2022
Opening net book amount 3,865 638 1,172 759 6,434
Additions 879 111 - 1,501 2,491
Assets classified as held for sale
and other disposals (53) (16) - - (69)
Depreciation
- Continuing operations (1,737) (259) (295) (618) (2,909)
- Discontinued operation (39) (8) - [€Y] (48)
Closing net book amount 2,015 466 877 1,641 5,899
At December 31, 2022
Cost 12,790 1,125 2,840 3,777 20,532
Accumulated depreciation (9,875) (659) (1,963) (2,136) (14,633)
Net book amount 2,915 466 877 1,641 5,899
Year ended December 31,
2023
Opening net book amount 2,915 466 877 1,641 5,899
Additions 1,977 123 - 606 2,706
Disposal (25) 1) - - (26)
Depreciation
- Continuing operations (2,131) (245) (219) (747) (3,342)
Closing net book amount 2,736 343 658 1,500 5,237
At December 31, 2023
Cost 13,382 1,234 2,840 4,383 21,839
Accumulated depreciation (10,646) (891) (2,182) (2,883) (16,602)
Net book amount 2,736 343 658 1,500 5,237
Year ended December 31,
2024
Opening net book amount 2,736 343 658 1,500 5,237
Additions 253 - - 689 942
Disposal (12) - - - (12)
Depreciation
- Continuing operations (1,745) (232) (63) (862) (2,902)
Closing net book amount 1,232 111 595 1,327 3,265
At December 31, 2024
Cost 13,264 1,234 2,840 5,072 22,410
Accumulated depreciation (12,032) (1,123) (2,245) (3,745) (19,145)
Net book amount 1,232 111 595 1,327 3,265
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Property and equipment (Continued)

Electronic Office Leasehold
equipment equipment Vehicles improvements Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
At January 1, 2024
Cost 13,382 1,234 2,840 4,383 21,839
Accumulated depreciation (10,646) (891) (2,182) (2,883) (16,602)
Net book amount 2,736 343 658 1,500 5,237
Three months ended
March 31, 2024
Opening net book amount 2,736 343 658 1,500 5,237
Additions 118 - - 301 419
Depreciation ]
- Continuing operations (560) (65) (16) (263) (904)
Closing net book amount 2,204 278 642 1,538 4,752
At March 31, 2024
Cost 13,500 1,234 2,840 4,684 22,258
Accumulated depreciation (11,206) (956) (2,198) (3,146) (17,506)
Net book amount 2,294 278 642 1,538 4,752
At January 1, 2025
Cost 13,264 1,234 2,840 5,072 22,410
Accumulated depreciation (12,032) (1,123) (2,245) (3,745) (19,145)
Net book amount 1,232 111 595 1,327 : 3,265
Three months ended
March 31, 2025

Opening net book amount 1,232 111 595 1,327 3,265
Additions 23 - - 773 796
Disposal (10) (2) - - (12)
Depreciation
- Continuing operations (239) (149) . (16) (283) (552)
Closing net book amount 1,006 95 579 1,817 3,497
At March 31, 2025
Cost 12,966 1,187 2,840 5,845 22,838
Accumulated depreciation (11,960) (1,092) (2,261) (4,028) (19,341)
Net book amount 1,006 95 579 1,817 3,497

The Group performed impairment assessment for its non-financial assets, including the property and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets as at January 1, 2022 and December 31, 2022, 2023
and 2024 and March 31, 2025. The recoverable amounts were calculated for the CGU or CGUs to which
these assets belong using the VIU model. As the recoverable amounts were higher than the carrying
amounts of the respective CGU or CGUs, the directors of the Company concluded that no provision for
impairment is required to be recognized as of the end of the financial years/periods.

53



160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
18. Property and equipment (Continued)

(i)  Depreciation expenses were charged to profit or loss as follows:

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’0c00 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00
(Unaudited)
Continuing operations
Cost of sales and services 772 828 603 181 128
Selling and marketing expenses 343 371 692 113 178
Research and development expenses 529 594 204 144 29
Administrative expenses 1,265 1,549 1,313 466 217
2,909 3,342 2,902 904 552

(i) Depreciation methods and useful lives

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their costs, net of their residual values,
over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

» Electronic equipment 2-5 years

+ Office equipment 2-5 years

+ Vehicles 5-10 years

+ Leasehold improvements the shorter of the estimated useful life or remaining
lease term

See Note 43.4 for the other accounting policies relevant to property and equipment.

19. Leases

As atJanuary 1, As at December 31, Marc?ls;:
2022 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMPB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)

Right-of-use assets (i)

Leased properties 17,734 13,505 21,875 17,660 10,551
Lease liabilities

Current 6,518 8,249 5,649 7,123 7,106
Non-current 11,681 6,021 17,013 11,879 6,979
18,199 14,270 22662 19,002 14,085
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Leases (Continued)

The movement in right-of-use assets are as follows:

Leased office
properties Total
RMB’000 RMPB’oo00

At January 1, 2022 (Unaudited)
Cost 22,038 22,038
Accumulated depreciation (4,304) (4,304)
Net book amount 17,734 17,734
Year ended December 31, 2022
Opening net book amount 17,734 17,734
Additions 4,023 4,023
Termination (77) (77)
Assets classified as held for sale (note 15) (161) (161)
Depreciation
- Continuing operations (7,846) (7,846)
- Discontinued operation (168) (168)
Closing net book amount 13,505 13,505
At December 31, 2022
Cost 23,744 23,744
Accumulated depreciation (10,239) (10,239)
Net book amount 13,505 13,505
Year ended December 31, 2023
Opening net book amount 13,505 13,505
Additions 16,117 16,117
Depreciation
- Continuing operations (7,747) (7,747)
Closing net book amount 21,875 21,875
At December 31, 2023
Cost 39,861 39,861
Accumulated depreciation (17,986) (17,986)
Net book amount 21,875 21,875
Year ended December 31, 2024
Opening net book amount 21,875 21,875
Additions 3,435 3435
Termination (212) (212)
Depreciation
- Continuing operations (7,438) (7,438)
Closing net book amount 17,660 17,660
At December 31, 2024
Cost 27,037 27,037
Accumulated depreciation (9,377) (9,377)
Net book amount . 17,660 17,660
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Leases (Continued)

The movement in right-of-use assets are as follows: (Continued)

(Unaudited)

At January 1, 2024
Cost

Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Three months ended March 31, 2024
Opening net book amount

Additions

Depreciation

- Continuing operations

Closing net book amount

At March 31, 2024
Cost

Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

At January 1, 2025
Cost

Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Three months ended March 31, 2025
Opening net book amount

Termination

Depreciation

- Continuing operations

Closing net book amount

At March 31, 2025

Cost

Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

As mentioned in Note 18, The Group has performed impairment assessment for its non-financial assets,
including the property and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets as at January 1, 2022 and
December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025. The recoverable amounts were calculated for
the CGU or CGUs to which these assets belong using the VIU model. As the recoverable amounts were
higher than the respective carrying amounts of the respective CGU or CGUs, and the directors of the
Company has concluded that no provision for impairment is required to be recognized as of the end of

the financial years /periods.
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Leased office
properties Total
RMB’000 RMB’000
39,861 39,861
(17,986) (17,986)
21,875 21,875
21,875 21,875
2,818 2,818
(2,787) (2,787)
21,906 21,906
25,608 25,608
(3,702) (3,702)
21,906 21,006
27,037 27,037
(9,377) (9,377)
17,660 17,660
17,660 17,660
(5,268) (5,268)
(1,841) (1,841)
10,551 10,551
25,322 25,322
(14,771) (14,771)
10,551 10,551




19.
(ii)

(iii)

160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Leases (Continued)

Amounts recognized in profit or loss for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the
three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 are as follows:

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited) :
Continuing operations
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 7,846 7,747 7,438 2,787 1,841
Interest expenses (Note 12) 1,067 834 1,456 391 333
Expense relating to short-term leases 1,063 1,629 1,429 381 1,429

The total cash outflow for leases for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the three
months ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 were approximately RMB9,857,000, RMB10,188,000,
RMB9,770,000, RMB3,505,000 and RMB1,931,000 respectively.

The Group’s leasing activities and lease accounting

The Group leases offices and dormitories as lessee. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods
of 1to 5 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain various terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are
held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be
readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing
rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to -
obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar
terms, security, and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

. where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received;
and

. makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g., term, territory, currency and security.
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Leases (Continued)

The Group’s leasing activities and lease accounting (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term
on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use
asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets
are recognized on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a

lease term of 12 months or less.

See Note 43.16 for the other accounting policies relevant to leases.

Intangible assets

Office
Goodwill software License Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
At January 1, 2022
Cost - 4,021 5,768 9,789
Accumulated amortization - (3,815) (3,414) (7,229)
Net book amount - 206 2,354 2,560
Year ended December
31, 2022
Opening net book amount - 206 2,354 2,560
Business combination
(Note 38) 99 - 685 784
Amortization
- Continuing operations - (85) (405) (490)
- Discontinued operation - (59) - (59)
Closing net book amount 99 62 2,634 2,795
At December 31, 2022
Cost 99 4,021 6,454 10,574
Accumulated amortization - (3,959) (3,820) (7,779)
Net book amount 99 62 2,634 2,795
Year ended December
31, 2023
Opening net book amount 99 62 2,634 2,795
Additions - 73 - 73
Disposal of a subsidiary - (2) - (2)
Amortization
- Continuing operations - (73) (469) (542)
Closing net book amount 99 60 2,165 2,324
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Intangible assets (Continued)

Office
Goodwill software License Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
At December 31, 2023
Cost 99 3,725 6,454 10,278
Accumulated amortization - (3,665) (4,289) (7,954)
Net book amount 99 60 2,165 2,324
Year ended December
31, 2024
Opening net book amount 99 60 2,165 2,324
Amortization
- Continuing operations - (17) (469) (486)
Closing net book amount 99 43 1,696 1,338
At December 31, 2024
Cost 99 3,725 6,454 10,278
Accumulated amortization - (3,682) (4,758) (8,440)
Net book amount 99 43 1,696 1,838
(Unaudited)
At January 1, 2024
Cost 99 3,725 6,454 10,278
Accumulated amortization - (3,665) (4,289) (7,954)
Net book amount 99 60 2,165 2,324
Three months ended
March 31, 2024
Opening net book amount 99 60 2,165 2,324
Amortization
- Continuing operations - (4) (117) (121)
Closing net book amount 99 56 2,048 2,203
AtMarch 31, 2024
Cost 99 3,725 6,454 10,278
Accumulated amortization - (3,669) (4,406) (8,075)
Net book amount 99 56 2,048 2,203
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20. Intangible assets (Continued)

Office

Goodwill software License Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
At January 1, 2025
Cost 99 3,725 6,454 10,278
Accumulated amortization - (3,682) (4,758) (8,440)
Net book amount 99 43 1,696 1,838
Three months ended

March 31, 2025

Opening net book amount 99 43 1,696 1,838
Amortization
- Continuing operations - (4) (117) (121)
Closing net book amount 99 39 1,579 1,717
At March 31, 2025
Cost 99 3,725 6,454 10,278
Accumulated amortization - (3,686) (4,875) (8,561)
Net book amount 99 39 1,579 1,717

As mentioned in Note 18, the Group has performed impairment assessment for its non-financial assets,
including the property and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets as at January 1, 2022,
December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025. The recoverable amounts were calculated for
the CGU or CGUs to which these assets belong using the VIU model. As the recoverable amounts were
higher than the respective carrying amounts of the respective CGU or CGUs, and the directors of the
Company has concluded that no provision for impairment is required to be recognized as of the end of
the financial years /periods.

(1) Amortization expenses were charged to profit or loss as follows:

Three months ended

Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’0c00 RMB’o00

(Unaudited)
Continuing operations

Research and development expenses - 12 14 4 4
Administrative expenses 490 530 472 117 117
490 542 486 121 121

(ii) Amortisation methods and periods

The Group amortizes intangible assets with a limited useful life using the straight-line method over the

following periods:
. Office software 1-5 years
. License 1-5 years

See Note 43.5 for the other accounting policies relevant to intangible assets.
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Financial instruments by category

As at As at
January 1, As at December 31, March 31,
Note 2022 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
Financial assets
Financial assets at amortized cost
- Cash and cash equivalents 25 89,439 37,748 57,555 58,266 68,447
- Restricted cash 25 2,613 4,607 616 8,003 7,330
- Trade receivables 23 86,081 63,592 117,824 170,669 167,837
- Deposits and other receivables 24 25,948 8,717 8,763 14,681 16,690
204,081 114,664 184,758 251,619 260,304
As at January As at
1, As at December 31, March 31,
Note 2022 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00
(Unaudited)
Financial liabilities
- Trade and bill payables 30 73,873 56,159 96,375 102,627 90,809
- Borrowings 29 40,585 21,058 10,000 90,670 116,058
- Lease liabilities 19 18,199 14,270 22,662 19,002 14,085
Accruals and other payables (excluding VAT and
other taxes payables, payroll and welfare
payables and pre-paid investment fund from
investor) 31 77,522 65,675 78,632 81,387 80,758
Redemption liabilities 32 284,608 294,183 - - -
494,787 451,345 207,669 293,686 301,710
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Inventories

As at As at
January 1, As at December 31, March 31,
2022 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’oo0
(Unaudited)
Purchased goods — at cost 12,331 11,638 4,451 2,030 1,216
Less: impairment provision (22) (1,326) - - -
12,309 10,312 4,451 2,030 1,216

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using specific
identification method. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and
discounts. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Inventories recognized as an expense during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the
three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 amounted to RMB364,779,000, RMB440,765,000,
RMB419,442,000, RMB60,072,000 and RMB66,165,000 respectively. These were included in cost of
sales.

There is no provision or reversal for impairment of inventories for the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2024 and the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2025. The provision for impairment of
inventories amounted to approximately RMB1,304,000 for the year ended December 31, 2022. All the
provision of impairment of inventories have been included in “cost of sales and services” in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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Trade receivables

As at As at
January 1, As at December 31, March 31,
2022 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
Trade receivables 94,772 73,053 134,610 195,641 193,006
Less: allowance for impairment (8,691) (9,461) (16,786) (24,972) (25,169)
Trade receivables, net 86,081 63,592 117,824 170,669 167,837

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair value. The Group’s trade receivables are
mainly denominated in RMB.

Sales are generally made with prescribed credit terms in the sales contracts, usually 1to 3 months to settle
the receivables.

The aging analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice date are as follows:

As at As at
January 1, As at December 31, March 31,
2022 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’o00 RMB’c00 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00
(Unaudited) i
Within 9o days 76,733 40,417 87,734 108,810 75,863
90 days to one year 6,526 16,037 28,253 52,208 84,213
One to two years 6,917 8,501 8,118 20,685 17,364
Two to three years 2,873 4,460 4,415 5,780 6,576
Over three years 1,723 3,638 6,090 8,158 8,990
94,772 73,053 134,610 195,641 193,006

Classification as trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. They are generally due for settlement within one year or a normal operating cycle and
therefore all are classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognized initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they are recognized at fair value. The Group holds the
trade receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method. See Note 3.1.2 for a description of the
Group’s impairment policies.
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Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

As at As at
January 1, As at December 31, March 31,
2022 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’oo0 = RMB’000
(Unaudited)
Deposits and other receivables
- Receivables attributable to discontinued operation 10,359
- Amounts due from related parties (Note 39(c)) 9,846 2,182 - 5,077 5,496
- Rental and other deposits 4,078 4,108 5,411 6,227 6,038
- Advance to staff 288 1,364 1,445 1,964 2,263
- Others 1,730 1,634 2,486 2,090 3,661
26,301 9,288 9,342 15,358 17,458
Prepayment
- Prepayment for purchased goods 5,005 5,743 2,837 3,009 4,062
- Prepaid expenses 6,605 10,589 10,685 13,426 19,400
- Deferred listing expenses - - 3,175 3,720 3,959
11,610 16,332 16,697 20,155 27,421
Less: provision for impairment (353) (571) (579) (677 (768)
37,558 25,049 25,460 34,836 44,111

The carrying amounts of the Group’s deposits and other receivables approximated to their fair values as
at January 1, 2022, December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025.
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Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

As at As at
January 1, As at December 31, March 31,
2022 2022 2023 2024 * 2025
RMB’000 RMB’oo0 RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
Cash at bank and in hand (i) 92,052 42,355 58,171 66,269 75,777
Less: restricted cash (ii) (2,613) (4,607) (616) (8,003) (7,330)
Cash and cash equivalents (iii) 89,439 37,748 57,555 58,266 68,447

The majority of Group’s cash at bank and in hand as at January 1,2022, December 31, 2022, 2023 and
2024 and March 31, 2025 is denominated in RMB, and the remaining portion of the Group’s cash at bank
and in hand denominated in USD and HKD is immaterial.

As at January 1, 2022 and December 31, 2022, bank deposits of RMB366,000 and RMB385,000 was
restricted by Shenzhen Municipal Intermediate People’s Court due to the legal case as mentioned in Note
31(ii) and was therefore classified as restricted cash accordingly. This restricted bank deposit of
RMB385,000 was forcibly executed during the year ended December 31, 2023.

As at January 1, 2022 and December 31, 2022, bank deposits of RMB2,000,000 and RMB4,000,000
respectively, was restricted as guarantee deposits for issuance of bank acceptance notes.

As at January 1, 2022, December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025, bank deposits of
RMB247,000, RMB222,000, RMB222,000, RMB222,000 and RMB154,000 was pledged to banks
mainly as the performance guarantee for bidding of projects. Such restricted cash will be released upon
the closure of the related tenders.

As at December 31, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025, bank deposits of RMB394,000, RMB3,934,000
and RMB2,692,000 represent cash received from customers and placed in a bank supervised account for
payment to medical and healthcare institution and professionals. Besides, as at December 31, 2024 and
March 31, 2025, bank deposits of RMB3,847,000 and RMB4,484,000 represent cash pledged to banks
mainly due to legal disputes.

The carrying amount of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents approximated to its fair value as at January
1, 2022 and December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025. The cash and cash equivalents earn
interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents

includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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Share capital and combined capital

Share capital

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on the January 31, 2022 with an authorized share
of US$50,000 divided into 5,000,000,000 shares of a par value of US$0.00001 each.

A summary of movements in the Company’s issued and fully paid share capital is as follow:

Number of Nominal value Equivalent nominal
shares of shares value of shares
USD'o00 RMB'oo0
Issued:
As at January 31, 2022 (date of
incorporation) 32,047,693 - 2
Repurchase of shares (765,729) - -
As at December 31, 2022 31,281,964 - 2
As at January 1, 2023 31,281,964 - 2
Issuance of shares 29,279,498 - 2
As at December 31, 2023 60,561,462 - 4
As at January 1, 2024 60,561,462 - 4
Issuance of shares - - -
As at December 31, 2024 60,561,462 - 4
(Unaudited)
As at January 1, 2024 60,561,462 - 4
Issuance of shares - - -
- As at March 31, 2024 60,561,462 - 4
As at January 1, 2025 60,561,462 - 4
Issuance of shares - -
As at March 31, 2025 60,561,462 - 4

In January 2022, the Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands with an authorized share capital of USD50,000 divided into 5,000,000,000 shares with
a par value of USD0.00001 each.

In January 2022, the Company issued an aggregate of 32,047,693 ordinary shares to some investors.

In April 2022, as some onshore investors of Shenzhen Ningyuan were not successful in their Overseas
Direct Investment applications, the Company repurchased and cancelled 760,544 shares and 5,185 shares
from its nominal shareholders, namely Mr. Luo and Mr. Luo Ningli respectively at a par value of
USDo0.00001 each.

In October and November 2023, upon the completion of the Reorganization, the Company further issued
an aggregate of 29,279,498 ordinary shares to investors, which included the 1,442,868 ordinary shares
issued for the swap of 160 Medicine’s 26.67% equity interest held by non-controlling interest in October
2023 and the 1,039,069 shares with preferred rights of as described in Note 32 at a price of RMB48.12
per share with total consideration of RMB50,000,000 as part of the series E Pre-IPO financing.
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Share capital and combined capital (Continued)

Share capital (Continued)

As at December 31, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2024 and 2025, the total issued number and nominal
value of issued ordinary share of the Company amounted to 60,561,462 shares and USD605.61
(equivalent to approximately RMB4,000), respectively, in which, 3,339,319 shares of the Company were

held by the Group’s controlled entities, 160 Health Future Limited and 160 Future Limited (the “trustee”)
and accounted for as treasure shares.

Pursuant to a written resolution of shareholders on September 3, 2025, each ordinary share in issue of
the Company be sub-divided into 5 ordinary shares immediately before the completion of the Listing (the
“Share Subdivision”). Immediately following the Share Subdivision, the Company’s number of Shares in
issue would be changed from 60,561,462 to 302,807,310.

Combined capital

The Reorganization has not been completed as of December 31, 2022. Combined capital as at December
31, 2022 represented the combined capital of the companies now comprising the Group after the
elimination of inter-company investments.

The combined capital was reclassified to share premium upon the completion of the Reorganization (Nofe
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Reserves
Share-
based
Share Treasury payment Other Total
premium shares reserves reserves reserves
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
As at January 1, 2022 (Unaudited) 343,561 (262,050) 168,661 (1,003) 249,169
Capital injection from shareholders (i) 32,242 - - - 32,242
Repurchase of shares from shareholders - (313) - - (313)
Share issuance cost (990) - - - (990)
Derecognition of redemption liabilities (Note 32(e)) - 16,961 - 8,634 25,595
As at December 31, 2022 374,813 (245,402) 168,661 7,631 305,703
As at January 1, 2023 374,813 (245,402) 168,661 7,631 305,703
Transactions with non-controlling interests - - - 1,842 1,842
Capital injection from shareholders (ii) 108,753 - - - 108,753
Share-based payment expenses (Note 28) - - 46,424 - 46,424
Repurchase of shares from shareholders - 64) - - (64)
Share issuance cost (6,366) - - - (6,366)
Recognition of redemption liabilities (Note 32(c)) - (106,362) - - (106,362)
Derecognition of redemption liabilities (Note 32(f)) 58,831 350,783 - - 409,614
Reclassification of combined capital to share
premium upon the completion of the
reorganization 59,435 - - - 59,435
Reclassification of other reserves to treasury shares - (727) 727 - -
As at December 31, 2023 595,466 (1,772) 215,812 9,473 818,979
As at January 1, 2024 595,466 (1,772) 215,812 9,473 818,979
Share-based payment expenses (Note 28) - - 59,983 - 59,983
Currency translation differences - - - 317 317
As at December 31, 2024 595,466 (1,772 275,795 9,790 879,279
(Unaudited)
As at January 1, 2024 595,466 (1,772) 215,812 9,473 818,979
Share-based payment expenses (Note 28) - - 18,506 - 18,506
Currency translation differences - - - 317 317
As at March 31, 2024 595,466 (1,772) 234,318 9,790 837,802
As at January 1, 2025 595,466 (1,772) 275,795 9,790 879,279
Share-based payment expenses (Note 28) - - 7,809 - 7,809
As at March 31, 2025 595,466 (1,772) 283,604 9,790 887,088
Note:

(i) In December 2021, Shenzhen Ningyuan entered into a share purchase agreement with Chongging Southern Fund
Entrepreneurship Investment Corporation (Limited Partnership) and pursuant to which, the Group issued 758,063
shares of Shenzhen Ningyuan at a price of RMB43.53 per share with total consideration of RMB33,000,000 as part
of the series D2 Pre-IPO financing. This capital injection was completed in 2022 and the total share issuance cost as
settled in 2021 and 2022 amounted to RMB1,229,000 and RMB9g90,000, respectively.

(i) In 2023, the Group has three capital injection from shareholders, as following:

In January 2023, Shenzhen Ningyuan entered into a share purchase agreement with Qingdao Chengyu United
Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. and pursuant to which, the Group issued 1,039,069 shares with preferred rights of
Shenzhen Ningyuan at a price of RMB48.12 per share with total consideration of RMB50,000,000 as part of the
series E Pre-IPO financing. The total share issuance cost amounted to RMB5,000,000.

In May 2023, Shenzhen Ningyuan entered into a share purchase agreement with Zhejiang Zhonghui Industrial
Investment Co., Ltd. and pursuant to which, the Group issued 207,814 shares with preferred rights of Shenzhen
Ningyuan at a price of RMB48.12 per share with total consideration of RMB10,000,000 as part of the series E Pre-
IPO financing.
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Reserves (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(ii) In 2023, the Group has three capital injection from shareholders, as following (Continued):

In November 2023, Shenzhen Ningyuan and the Company entered into investment agreements with a Pre-IPO
investor (the “Pre-IPO investors of the Company”), pursuant to which the Company issued and allotted
approximately 1,039,069 shares to the Pre-IPO investors of the Company, at a consideration of RMB50,000,000.
The Pre-IPO investors of the Company were granted with certain preferred rights. The total share issuance cost

amounted to RMB1,366,000 in 2023.

Share-based payment expenses

Share-based payment expenses was recognized in profit or loss for the years ended December 31, 2022,
2023 and 2024 and the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 as follows:

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
Administrative expenses - 21,224 23,888 7,203 2,676
Sales and marketing expensés - 22,749 32,230 10,147 5,057
Research and development expenses - 2,451 3,865 1,156 76
- 46,424 59,983 18,506 7,809

Share option schemes
Share options schemes of Shenzhen Ningyuan

In December 2015, Shenzhen Ningyuan adopted a share option scheme to attract, retain and motivate
talented employees to strive towards long term performance targets set by Shenzhen Ningyuan and to
provide them with an incentive to work better for the interest of Shenzhen Ningyuan.

Shenzhen Ningyuan has granted nine batches of share options to employees and directors, which were
fully vested and partial exercised before the Relevant Periods. As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, there
were 643,697 options that were vested and unexercised, however these share options were unexercised
and forfeited by the holders in 2023 upon the completion of the Reorganisation.

Pre-IPO share option scheme of the Company

In August 2023, the Group adopted the Pre-IPO share option scheme. Under the Pre-IPO share option
scheme, options to subsecribe for 6,236,917 shares (or 31,184,585 shares as adjusted after the share
subdivision which is adopted on September 3, 2025 ), including options to subscribe for 2,897,598 new
shares and 3,339,319 existing shares held by the trustee (or 14,487,990 new shares and 16,696,595
existing shares as adjusted after the share subdivision), had been granted to a total of 105 grantees by the
Group.

The number of share oll)tions average exercise price per share ogtion, fair value of share options, key
asil(lir_npt_lons of fair value of share options state below were before the adjustment for the share
subdivision.
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Share-based payment expenses (Continued)

Share option schemes (Continued)

Details of vesting period of share options are as follows:

Grant date Number of share options
(yyyy/mm/dd) (before subdivision)
2023/9/1 733,760
2023/9/1 3,623,859
2023/9/1 312,000

70

Vesting period
Public Offering Date

i) 25% of the granted share options are vested upon
the Public Offering Date and January 1, 2024,
whichever is later;

ii) 25% of the granted share options are vested
upon the Public Offering Date and January 1,
2025, whichever is later;

iiif) 25% of the granted share options are vested
upon the Public Offering Date and January 1,
2026, whichever is later;

iv) 25% of the granted share options are vested
upon the Public Offering Date and January 1,
2027, whichever is later.

i) 20% of the granted share options are vested
upon the Public Offering Date and 1st
anniversary of the grant date, whichever is
later;

ii) 20% of the granted share options are vested
upon the Public Offering Date and 2nd
anniversary of the grant date, whichever is later;

iif) 20% of the granted share options are vested
upon the Public Offering Date and 3d
anniversary of the grant date, whichever is later;

iv) 20% of the granted share options are vested
upon the Public Offering Date and 4t
anniversary of the grant date, whichever is later;

iv) 20% of the granted share options are vested
upon the Public Offering Date and st
anniversary of the grant date, whichever is later;
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Share-based payment expenses (Continued)

Share option schemes (Continued)

Movements in the number of share options granted to non-director employees outstanding and their

related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

Vested and exercisable as at January 1, 2022

and December 31, 2022

No. of options

638,233

Average exercise price
per share option (RMB)

As at January 1, 2023

Granted during the year
Exercised during the year
Forfeiture of vested share options

638,233
3,004,678

(638,233)

As at December 31, 2023

3,004,678

Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2023

As at January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024

3,004,678

Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2024

As at January 1, 2025
Forfeited during the period

3,004,678
(37,265)

As at March 31, 2025

2,967,413

Vested and exercisable at March 31, 2025

Movements in the number of share options granted to directors outstanding and their related weighted

average exercise prices are as follows:

Vested and exercisable as at January 1, 2022,
December 31, 2022

No. of options

5,464

Average exercise price
per share option (RMB)

As at January 1, 2023

Granted during the year
Exercised during the year
Forfeiture of vested share options

5,464
1,664,941

(5,464)

As at December 31, 2023

1,664,941

Vested and exercisable at 31 December 2023

As at January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024

1,664,941

Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2024

As at January 1, 2025 and March 31, 2025
Vested and exercisable at March 31, 2025

1,664,941
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Share-based payment expenses (Continued)

Share option schemes (Continued)

Fair value of share options

The Group has used the discounted cash flow method to determine the underlying equity fair value of the
Company and adopted equity allocation model to determine the fair value of the underlying ordinary
shares. Key assumptions, such as discount rate and projections of future performance, are determined by
the Group with best estimate.

Based on estimated fair value of the underlying ordinary shares, the Group has used binomial tree model
to determine the fair value of the share option as of the grant date. Key assumptions are set as below:

September 1, 2023

(grant date)
Fair value per share 52.07
Risk-free interest rate 2.37%
Expected volatility 50%-55%
Expected terms 10 years since first vested
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Borrowings
As at As at
January 1, As at December 31, March 31,
2022 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’o00 RMB’o00 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
Included in current liabilities:
Borrowings
- Borrowings, secured or guaranteed (ii) 40,060 19,558 7,014 74,633 99,291
- Borrowings, unsecured and unguaranteed (iii) 525 - 2,500 14,760 15,215
40,585 19,558 9,514 89,393 114,506
Included in non-current liabilities:
Borrowings
- Borrowings, secured or guaranteed (ii) - 1,500 486 1,277 1,552
40,585 21,058 10,000 90,670 116,058

As at January 1, 2022, December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025, the Group’s borrowings
were repayable as follows:

As at As at
January 1, As at December 31, March 31,
2022 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’o00 RMB’o00 RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Unaudited)

Within 1 year 40,585 19,558 9,514 89,393 114,506
Between 1 and 2 years - 1,500 486 1,277 1,552
40,585 21,058 10,000 90,670 116,058

As at January 1, 2022, December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025, the Group’s borrowings
which were secured or guaranteed by group companies or related parties of the Group (Note 39(d)) bear
interests at fixed interest rates ranging from 5%-6%, 4%-15%, 6%-16%, 3.30%-18% and 3.10%-18% per
annum, respectively.

As at January 1, 2022, December 31, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025, the Group’s borrowings which
were unsecured and unguaranteed bear interests at fixed interest rates ranging from 10.35%, 3.80%-
4.40%, 3.60%-4.43% and 3.60%-4.50% per annum, respectively.

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortized cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption amount is recognized in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has a substantive right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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30. Trade and bill payables

Aging analysis of the trade and bill payables as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025
based on invoice date are as follows:

As at As at
January 1, As at December 31, March 31,
2022 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’o00 RMB’o00 RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)

Trade payables 73,873 52,159 96,375 102,627 90,809
Bill payables - 4,000 - - -
73,873 56,159 96,375 102,627 90,809

Analysis by aging
Within 9o days 64,666 39,718 79,970 77,212 58,367
90 days to one year 4,433 12,033 9,007 10,742 19,094
Over one year 4,774 4,408 7,398 14,673 13,348
73,873 56,159 96,375 102,627 90,809

(i) Trade and bill payables are all denominated in RMB and their carrying amounts are considered to
approximate their fair values due to their short-term in nature.

(ii)) These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of

financial year which are unpaid. They are recognized initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
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Accruals and other payables

As at As at
January 1, As at December 31, March 31,
2022 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’0c00 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
Payroll and welfare payable 23,332 22,809 11,004 27,034 27,059
Trading deposits received 9,862 3,372 3,703 3,643 4,184
Payables attributable to the discontinued operation 16,605
Pre-paid investment fund from investor (ii) 5,500
Payable for settlement of redemption liabilities (iii) 7,355
Payables to physicians and medical and healthcare
institutions 36,750 42,488 50,071 63,377 65,937
VAT and other taxes payables 17,550 17,949 12,233 21,841 18,640
Provision for the legal proceeding/payable for settlement
compensation (iv) 600 13,000 11,000 - -
Payables for listing expenses . - - 9,605 11,135 6,896
Others 6,350 6,815 4,253 3,232 3,741
123,904 106,433 101,869 130,262 126,457

Accruals and other payables are all denominated in RMB and their carrying amounts are considered to
approximate their fair values due to their short-term in nature.

On 30 December 2021, the Group entered into investment agreement with Chongqing Southern Private
Equity Investment Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Chongging Southern Fund”) with a total
consideration of RMB33,000,000. Chongqing Southern Fund paid RMB5,500,000 on 31 December 2021
and paid the remaining amount of RMB27,500,000 on 13 January 2022, then the Group issued 758,063
shares of Shenzhen Ningyuan to Chongqing Southern Fund in January 2022. According to the terms of
the agreement, the shareholder’s right shall be granted upon fully receipt of the consideration, thus
RMB5,500,000 is recognized as pre-paid investment fund.

The amount is payable by the Group to settle the redemption liabilities related to 160 Medicine, which is
disclosed in Note 32(d).

In a sales transaction in 2020, 160 Medicine received an amount of RMB21,000,000 from an
independent third-party purchaser (the “Purchaser”) and then paid the amount of RMB20,400,000 to
an independent third-party mask supplier. As agreed with the independent third-party mask supplier,
160 Medicine needed to transfer the remaining amount of RMB600,000 to an intermediary upon receipt
of instructions from the independent third-party mask suppher 160 Medicine only acted as payment
channel not as a principal in this transaction.

In July 2020, 160 Medicine was sued by the Purchaser due to dispute during the transaction. In July 2021,
the first court judgement was made that 160 Medicine only needed to transfer the unpaid amount of
RMB600,000 to the third party. In November 2022, the second court judgement was made that 160
Medicine needed to return the entire cash received from the Purchaser, amounting to RMB21,000,000.
In December 2023, the Group reached a settlement with the Purchaser, agreeing on a final compensation
amount of RMB13,000,000 and the Purchaser has withdrawn its claim. Management has adjusted the
provision for legal proceeding to RMB13,000,000 after the settlement agreement was confirmed. The
Group has paid the compensation of RMB2,000,000 and RMB11,000,000, in 2023 and 2024 respectively.

75



160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Redemption liabilities

As at As at
January 1, As at December 31, March 31,
2022 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
Current portion 27,089 204,183 - - -
Non-current portion 257,519 - - - -

284,608 294,183 - - -

The movements of redemption liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the
three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2025 were as follows:

Redemption liabilities

RMB’000
As at January 1, 2022 (Unaudited) 284,608
Charged to finance costs
-Interests from continuing operations (Note 12) 37,012
Derecognition of redemption liabilities (€) (27,437)
As at December 31, 2022 204,183
As at January 1, 2023 294,183
Recognition of redemption liabilities (c) 106,362
Charged to finance costs
-Interests from continuing operations (Note 12) 9,069
Derecognition of redemption liabilities (f) (409,614)

As at December 31, 2023
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Redemption liabilities (Continued)

Recognition and derecognition of redemption liabilities

A contract that contains an obligation to purchase the Group’s equity instruments for cash or other
financial asset gives rise to a financial liability for the present value of the redemption amount. Even if
the Group’s obligations to purchase are conditional on the counterparty exercising a right to redeem.

The Group recognized the financial instruments with redemption rights as liabilities considering that not
all triggering events for triggering exercise of redemption rights (more details about the preferred rights
are set out below or in the later part of this note), are out of the control of the Group. The redemption
liabilities are initially measured at the present value of the amount expected to be paid to the investors
upon redemption with subsequent changes in the carrying amount charged as finance costs in profit or
loss.

The Group derecognizes redemption liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled, or have expired. The carrying amount of the financial instruments derecognized
was credited into the equity if the redemption liabilities expire without exercise.

160 Medicine and Shenzhen Ningyuan financing
(i) 160 Medicine financing

In 2018, 160 Medicine entered into investment agreements with Investor 1, Investor 2, Investor 3 and
Investor 4 (collectively, the “Four Investors”), pursuant to which 160 Medicine issued and allotted
approximately 2,083,300 shares with preferred rights to the Four Investors, at a consideration of
RMB30,000,000. Upon the 160 Medicine’s shares with preferred rights as described below were issued
to the Four Investors, the Group has initially recognized the redemption liabilities of RMB31,711,000
(representing the present value of the estimated amount to be paid out by the Group if the Four Investors
exercises its preferred right) in 2018.

The key terms of the preferential rights are set out below:
Redemption rights

Investor 1 of 160 Medicine has the right to request 160 Medicine to redeem its investment if 160 Medicine
has not consummated the condition of achieving a qualified initial public offering (“IPO”) as defined in
the shareholder agreement or occurrence of certain events as defined in the shareholder agreement. The
redemption amount of Investor 1 of 160 Medicine is calculated as the higher of (i) the original investment
principal of Investor 1 plus an annual simple rate of 10% of the original investment principal for a period
of time commencing from the issue date of shares to the actual payments date of the settlement of
redemption labilities (calculated as 365 days in a calendar year); (ii) the fair value of 160 Medicine’s
share held by Investor 1.

Investor 2, Investor 3 and Investor 4 of 160 Medicine have no such redemption right.

Share swap rights

All the Four Investors have the right to swap 160 Medicine’s shares with Shenzhen Ningyuan’s shares
when Shenzhen Ningyuan starts preparing for IPO application and its relevant materials as described in

the agreement and 160 Medicine is not the listing entity. The key terms are summarized below:

For Investor 1, Investor 2 and Investor 3, if these investors choose to swap shares, the share swap
consideration is calculated as follows:

The share swap consideration=0riginal investment principal*(1+10%*N)
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160 Medicine and Shenzhen Ningyuan financing (Continued)

(i) 160 Medicine financing (Continued)

Share swap rights (Continued)

N: The total days from the investment settlement date to the date of the share swap plan approved by
Shenzhen Ningyuan’s board of directors / 365 days.

For Investor 4, the share swap consideration is the higher of (i) the original investment principal of
Investor 4 plus an annual simple rate of 30% of the original investment principal for a period of time
commencing from the issue date to the share swap approval date by the board of directors of the Company
(calculated as 365 days in a calendar year); (ii) the actual or projected sales of 160 Medicine in the year of
share swap multiplied by 2 times price-to-sales ratio.

The number of the Shenzhen Ningyuan’s shares swapped by the Four Investors is equal to their respective
share swap consideration divided by the fair value of the Company's equity per share at the time of the
approval from the board of directors of the Company for the share swap plan.

From the directors’ perspective, the Group will use its own equity instruments to redeem shares held by
the Four Investors if the Four Investors choose to swap shares. Therefore, the Group recognized the
redemption liabilities at the present value of the aforementioned share swap price based on the most
likely scenario among all the possible situations.

Liquidation preferences

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of 160 Medicine, either voluntarily or
involuntarily, Investor 1 of 160 Medicine, shall be entitled to receive the liquidation preference amount,
prior and in preference to any distribution of any of the assets or surplus funds of 160 Medicine to the
remaining shareholders.

The liquidation preference amount of Investor 1 of 160 Medicine, is calculated as the 112% of the original
investment principal from Investor 1 of 160 Medicine plus any declared but unpaid dividends thereon up
to the date of the settlement. A liquidation event means (i) any liquidation, dissolution or winding up,
either voluntarily or involuntarily, of 160 Medicine; (ii) 160 Medicine transfer all or a significant portion
of its assets or business, or the controlling shareholders of 160 Medicine sell their controlling stake at a
discount; (iii) for any reason, repurchase right in this agreement are deemed invalid or unable to be
effectively executed.

Investor 2, Investor 3 and Investor 4 of 160 Medicine have no such right.

Anti-dilution right

If 160 Medicine increases its paid-in capital (except for employee incentive plan) at a price lower than the
price paid by Investor 1 of 160 Medicine on a per paid-in capital basis, Investor 1 of 160 Medicine have a
right to require 160 Medicine to issue new paid-in capital for nil consideration to Investor 1 of 160

Medicine.

The directors of the Company considered that the fair value of the anti-dilution right was immaterial and
therefore no derivative liability was recognized by the Group.

Investor 2, Investor 3 and Investor 4 of 160 Medicine have no such right.
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160 Medicine and Shenzhen Ningyuan financing (Continued)

(ii) Shenzhen Ningyuan financing

In 2018, Shenzhen Ningyuan entered into investment agreements with an Investor 5 (“Investor 57),
pursuant to which Shenzhen Ningyuan issued and allotted approximately 1,240,110 shares with
preferential rights to the Investor 5, at a consideration of RMB36,050,000. The Group had initially
recognized the redemption liabilities of RMB28,083,000 (representing the present value of the estimated
amount to be paid out by the Group if the investor exercises its preferred right) in 2018.

The key terms of the preferential rights are set out below:
Redemption rights

Investor 5 of Shenzhen Ningyuan has right to require Weikang Ningyuan, a consolidated entity before the
Reorganization, Mr. Wang Ming and Mr. Luo to redeem its investment if Shenzhen Ningyuan has not
consummated the condition of achieving a qualified initial public offering (“IPO”) as defined in the
shareholder agreement or occurrence of certain events as defined in the shareholder agreement. The
redemption amount of the investor of Shenzhen Ningyuan is calculated as the original investment
principal of the investor plus an annual simple rate of 10% of the original investment principal for a period
of time commencing from the issue date to the actual payments date of the settlement (calculated as 365
days in a calendar year).

Liquidation preferences

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Shenzhen Ningyuan, either voluntarily or
involuntarily, the Investor 5 of Shenzhen Ningyuan, shall be entitled to receive the liquidation preference
amount, prior and in preference to any distribution of any of the assets or surplus funds of Shenzhen
Ningyuan to Weikang Ningyuan, Mr. Wang Ming and Mr. Luo.

The liquidation preference amount of the Investor 5 of Shenzhen Ningyuan is calculated as the 110% of
the original investment principal from the investor of Shenzhen Ningyuan plus any declared but unpaid
dividends thereon up to the date of the settlement. A liquidation event means (i) any liquidation,
dissolution or winding up, either voluntarily or involuntarily, of Shenzhen Ningyuan; (ii) Shenzhen
Ningyuan transfer all or a significant portion of its assets or business, or the controlling shareholders of
Shenzhen Ningyuan sell their controlling stake at a discount; (iii) for any reason, repurchase right in this
agreement are deemed invalid or unable to be effectively executed.

New investors in 2021 and series Pre-IPO financing of Shenzhen Ningyuan or the Company

In 2021, Shenzhen Ningyuan’s existing shareholders Mr. Luo, Weikang Yuanju, Heyuan Chuangye and
new investors (the “New Investors in 2021”) which are independent third parties entered into several
share transfer agreements, under which Weikang Yuanju and Heyuan Chuangye transferred shares to the
New Investors in 2021. Shenzhen Ningyuan, Mr. Luo, Weikang Yuanju and Heyuan Chuangye jointly
granted preferential rights to the New Investors in 2021. Shenzhen Ningyuan has initially recognized the
redemption liabilities of RMB244,421,000 and share-based payment of RMB96,230,000 in 2021,
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Redemption liabilities (Continued)

New investors in 2021 and series Pre-IPO financing of Shenzhen Ningyuan or the Company (Continued)

In January and May 2023, Shenzhen Ningyuan entered into investment agreements with Qingdao
Chengyu United Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. and Zhejiang Zhonghui Industrial Investment Co., Ltd.
(collectively, the “Pre-IPO investors of Shenzhen Ningyuan”), pursuant to which Shenzhen Ningyuan
issued and allotted approximately 1,246,883 shares to the Pre-IPO investors of Shenzhen Ningyuan, at a
consideration of RMB60,000,000. The Pre-IPO investors of Shenzhen Ningyuan were granted with
certain preferred rights. The Group has initially recognized the redemption liabilities of RMB56,957,000
in 2023 at the present value of the estimated amount to be paid out by the Group if the Pre-IPO investors
of Shenzhen Ningyuan exercises their preferred rights.

In November 2023, Shenzhen Ningyuan and the Company entered into investment agreements with a
Pre-IPO investor (the “Pre-IPO investors of the Company”), pursuant to which the Company issued and
allotted approximately 1,039,069 shares to the Pre-IPO investors of the Company, at a consideration of
RMB50,000,000. The Pre-IPO investors of the Company were granted with certain preferred rights. The
Group has initially recognized the redemption liabilities of RMB49,405,000 in 2023 at the present value
of the estimated amount to be paid out by the Group if the Pre-IPO investors of the Company exercises
their preferred rights.

The key terms of the preferential rights of the New Investors in 2021, the Pre-IPO Investors of Shenzhen
Ningyuan and the Pre-IPO investors of the Company are set out below:

Redemption rights

The New Investors in 2021 and the Pre-IPO investors of Shenzhen Ningyuan has right to require the
Shenzhen Ningyuan to redeem its investment when certain events happen, the Pre-IPO investors of the
Company has right to require the Shenzhen Ningyuan and the Company to redeem its investment when
certain events happen, including but not limited to: (i) Shenzhen Ningyuan or the Company failed to
complete qualified IPO before a certain date; (ii) during the period from the shares issuance date to before
the date of Shenzhen Ningyuan’s or the Company’s listing, Shenzhen Ningyuan or the Company and its
existing shareholders have committed a major breach to the investment agreements. The redemption
amount of the New Investors in 2021, the Pre-IPO investors of Shenzhen Ningyuan and the Pre-IPO
investors of the Company is calculated as the original investment principal from New Investors in
2021,the Pre-IPO investors Shenzhen Ningyuan and the Pre-IPO investors of the Company, plus an
annual simple rate of 8% or 15% of the original investment principal for a period of time commencing
from the issue date to the actual payments date of the settlement of the redemption liabilities (calculated
as 365 days in a calendar year) depending on the events occurred.

Liquidation preferences

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of Shenzhen Ningyuan, either voluntarily or
involuntarily, the New Investors in 2021 and the Pre-IPO investors of Shenzhen Ningyuan shall be
entitled to receive the liquidation preference amount, prior and in preference to any distribution of any
of the assets or surplus funds of Shenzhen Ningyuan to the remaining shareholders.

In the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, either voluntarily or
involuntarily, the Pre-IPO investors of the Company shall be entitled to receive the liquidation preference
amount, prior and in preference to any distribution of any of the assets or surplus funds of the Company
to the remaining shareholders.

The liquidation preference amount of the New Investors in 2021, the Pre-IPO investors of Shenzhen
Ningyuan and the Pre-IPO investors of the Company is calculated as the 108% of the original investment
principal from New Investors in 2021, the Pre-IPO investors of Shenzhen Ningyuan and the Pre-IPO
investors of the Company respectively plus any declared but unpaid dividends thereon up to the date of
the settlement.
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Redemption liabilities (Continued)

New investors in 2021 and series Pre-IPO financing of Shenzhen Ningyuan or the Company (Continued)
Anti-dilution right

If Shenzhen Ningyuan increases its paid-in capital to third parties (except for employee incentive plan)
at a price lower than the price paid by the Pre-IPO investors of Shenzhen Ningyuan on a per paid-in
capital basis, the Pre-IPO investors of Shenzhen Ningyuan have a right to require the Group to issue new
paid-in capital or the controlling shareholder transfer shares for lowest price permitted by law to the Pre-
IPO investors of Shenzhen Ningyuan.

If Shenzhen Ningyuan increases its paid-in capital or the controlling shareholder transfers shares to third

parties (except for employee incentive plan) at a price lower than the price paid by the New Investors in

2021 on a per paid-in capital basis, the New Investors in 2021 have a right to require (i) Shenzhen

Ningyuan to issue new paid-in capital or the controlling shareholder transfer shares for lowest price

permitted by law to the New Investors in 2021; or (ii) Shenzhen Ningyuan or controlling shareholders to
pay cash consideration to the New Investors in 2021 so that the total amount paid by the New Investors

in 2021 divided by the total amount of paid-in capital obtained is equal to the price per paid-in capital in

the new issuance.

If the Company increases its paid-in capital to third parties (except for employee incentive plan or
business combination consideration shares) at a price lower than the price paid by the Pre-IPO investors
of the Company on a per paid-in capital basis, the Pre-IPO investors of the Company have a right to
require the Group to issue new paid-in capital or the controlling shareholder transfer shares for lowest
price permitted by law to the Pre-IPO investors of the Company.

The directors of the Company considered that the fair value of the anti-dilution right was immaterial and
therefore no derivative liability was recognized by the Group.

Settlement of redemption liabilities
Settlement of redemption liabilities of Investor 5 of Shenzhen Ningyuan

In 2020, Investor 5 exercised the redemption rights and Mr. Luo and Mr. Wang Ming acquired shares of
Shenzhen Ningyuan held by Investor 5 with the cash consideration of RMB34,000,000, pursuant to
which the redemption liabilities with carrying amount of approximately RMB40,009,000 were
derecognized accordingly, with a corresponding credit to treasure shares and other reserve.

Settlement of redemption liabilities of Investor 4 of 160 Medicine

In 2021, Shenzhen Ningyuan and Investor 4 entered into modification agreement to redeem the
investment of Investor 4 in the original investment amount plus 10% interest per annum (instead of 30%
interest per annum before the modification). Subsequent to this modification, Shenzhen Ningyuan
acquired all the shares of 160 Medicine held by Investor 4 with the cash consideration of RMB12,684,000
and settled the redemption liabilities to Investor 4, pursuant to which the redemption liabilities with
carrying amount of approximately RMB17,601,000 were derecognized accordingly, and the difference
between the cash consideration and derecognized redemption liabilities of approximately RMB4,917,000,
was recognized as finance income in profit or loss.
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Share swap of Investor 1, Investor 2 and Investor 3 of 160 Medicine

In 2022, Shenzhen Ningyuan planned to launch the IPO application process, and Investor 1, Investor 2,
and Investor 3 of 160 Medicine chose to swap their shares in 160 Medicine with preferential rights with
the Company’s ordinary shares. In February 2022, a total of 1,389,000 shares held by Investor 1, Investor
2 and Investor 3 of 160 Medicine were converted into 615,890 ordinary shares of the Company. However,
before the completion of the Reorganization, Investor 1, Investor 2 and Investor 3 will still enjoy the
ordinary equity interest in 160 Medicine. Pursuant to the share swap, the redemption liabilities of
approximately RMB27,437,000 were derecognized, with a corresponding credit to treasury shares of
approximately RMB16,961,000, non-controlling interests of approximately RMB1,842,000 and other
reserves of approximately RMB8,634,000 (Note 27).

Exercise of conversion rights of the New Investors in 2021, the Pre-IPO investors of Shenzhen Ningyuan
and the Pre-IPO investors of the Company

In June 2023, Shenzhen Ningyuan entered into termination agreements with the New Investors in 2021
and the Pre-IPO investors of Shenzhen Ningyuan as mentioned in Note 32(c) to terminate their preferred
rights. Accordingly, the related redemption liabilities of approximately RMB359,614,000 have been
derecognized, with the corresponding credit to treasure shares and share premium of RMB301,378,000
and RMB58,236,000, respectively (Note 27).

In November 2023, the Company entered into termination agreements with the Pre-IPO investors of the
Company as mentioned in Note 32(c)to terminate their preferred rights and the termination agreements
took effect on December. Pursuant to the termination agreement, the redemption liabilities of
approximately RMB50,000,000 with credit to treasury shares amounting to RMB49,405,000 and share
premium amounting to RMB595,000, respectively (Note 27).

After the termination of the abovementioned preferred rights, including the redemption rights, the Group
has no further obligation to redeem or repurchase its own equity instruments.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income taxes are calculated on temporary differences under the liability method using the tax
rates at which are expected to be applied at the time of reversal of the temporary differences.

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities is as follows:
Deferred income tax assets

The movement on the deferred income tax assets without taking into consideration the offsetting of
balance within the same tax jurisdiction is as follows:

Loss allowance

Lease liabilities provision Total
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
As at January 1, 2022 (Unaudited) 2,618 - 2,618
Charged to profit or loss (647) - (647)
As at December 31, 2022 1,971 - 1,971
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (698) 826 128
As at December 31, 2023 1,273 826 2,099
Credited to profit or loss 2,989 380 3,369
As at December 31, 2024 4,262 1,206 5,468
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(a) Deferredincome tax assets (Continued)

Loss allowance

Lease liabilities provision Total

RMPB’oo0 RMB’0o00 RMB’ooo
(Unaudited)
As at January 1, 2024 1,273 826 2,099
Credited to profit or loss 4,070 175 4,245
As at March 31, 2024 5,343 1,001 6,344
As at January 1, 2025 4,262 1,206 5,468
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (1,633) 200 (1,433)
As at March 31, 2025 2,629 1,406 4,035

(b) Deferred income tax liabilities

The movement on the deferred income tax liabilities without taking into consideration the offsetting of
balance within the same tax jurisdiction is as follows: :

Right-of-use assets

RMB’0o00

As at January 1, 2022 (Unaudited) 2,618
Credited to profit or loss (647)
As at December 31, 2022 1,971
Credited to profit or loss (698)
As at December 31, 2023 1,273
Charged to profit or loss 2,989
As at December 31, 2024 4,262
(Unaudited)

As at January 1, 2024 1,273
Credited to profit or loss 4,070
As at March 31, 2024 5,343
As at January 1, 2025 4,262
Credited to profit or loss (1,633)
As at March 31, 2025 2,629

(c) The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities offsetting is
as follows:

As at
January 1, As at December 31, As at March 31,
2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMPB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Total gross deferred income tax assets 2,618 1,971 2,099 5,468 6,344 4,035
Offsetting (2,618) (1,971) (1,273) (4,262) (5,343) (2,629)
Deferred income tax assets after offsetting - - 826 1,206 1,001 1,406
Total gross deferred income tax liabilities 2,618 1,971 1,273 4,262 5,343 2,629
Offsetting (2,618) (1,971) (1,273) (4,262) (5,343) (2,629)

Deferred income tax liabiliHes after
offsetting - - - - - -
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Cash flow information

Reconciliation of loss before income tax to cash used in operations:

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)
(Loss)/profit before income tax from
- Continuing operations (118,957) (110,676) (106,956) (39,838) (16,693)
- Discontinued operation (Note 15) (1,108) 5,024 - - -
Losses before income tax (120,065) (105,652) (106,956) (39,838) (16,693)
Adjustments for:
Net provision/(reversal) of impairment
losses on financial assets (Notes 8 and 15) 1,113 7,333 8,284 (600) 288
Provision for impairment of inventories
(Note 7) 1,304 - - - -
Provision for litigation loss
(Notes 10 and 31(ii)) 12,400 385 - - -
Depreciation of property and equipment
(Note 18) 2,957 3,342 2,902 904 552
Amortization of intangible assets (Note 20) 549 542 486 121 121
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(Note 19) 8,014 7,747 7,438 2,787 1,841
Net (gains)/losses on early termination of
leases (Note 10) (16) - 2 - 520
Net losses on disposal of property and
equipment (Note 10) 2 26 9 - 12
Share-based payment expenses (Note 28) - 46,424 59,983 18,506 7,809
Net gain on disposal of Jiangsu Huiyi
{Note 15) - (5,024) - - -
Finance cost, net (Notes 12 and 15) 39,777 11,156 2,330 745 972
Exchange losses, net - 330 - - -
Operating losses before working capital
changes (53,965) (33,391 (25,522) (17,375) (4,578)
Changes in working capital:
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables 21,719 (62,898) (61,031) 26,894 2,635
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables (9,751) 2,587 (2,828) (5,924) (8,707)
Decrease in inventories 693 5,861 2,421 1,066 814
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities 11,066 (10,398) (2,393) (1,742) 12,717
(Decrease)/increase in trade and bill
payables (14,710) 40,119 6,252 (29,062) (11,818)
Increase/(decrease) in accruals and other
payables 2,181 (6,344) 28,393 (4,380) (3,805)
11,198 (31,073) {29,186) (13,148) (8,164)
Cash used in operations (42,767) (64,464) (54,708) (30,523) (12,742)
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Cash flow information (Continued)

Non-cash investing and financing activities

Other than the recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities resulting from lease accounting, early
termination of leases, share swap in the Reorganization and the recognition and derecognition of
redemption liabilities, there were no material non-cash investing and financing transactions during the

Relevant Periods.

Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for the years ended December
31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2025.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents included in assets

classified as held for sale
Borrowings
Lease liabilities
Redemption liabilities

As at January 1, 2022 (Unaudited)
Net cash flows

Finance costs

Derecognition of redemption liabilities
Addition of lease liabilities

Early termination of leases
Classified as liabilities directly
associated with assets as held for sale

As at December 31, 2022

As at January 1, 2023

Net cash flows

Finance costs

Recognition of redemption liabilities
Derecognition of redemption liabilities
Addition of lease liabilities

Effect of exchange difference

As at December 31, 2023

As at As at
January 1, As at December 31, March 31,
2022 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited) :
89,439 37,748 57,555 58,266 68,447
- 1,340 - -
(40,585) (21,058) (10,000) (90,670) (116,058)
(18,199) (14,270) (22,662) (19,002) (14,085)
(284,608) (294,183) - - -
(253,953) (290,423) 24,893 (51,406) (61,696)
Cash and
cash Lease Redemption
equivalents Borrowings liabilities liabilities
RMB’oo0 RMPB’ooo RMB’ooo RMB’oo0
89,439 (40,585) (18,199) - (284,608)
(50,351) 21,592 8,794 -
- (2,065) (1,076) (37,012)
- - - 27,437
- - (4,023) -
- - 93 -
- - 141 -
39,088 (21,058) (14,270) (294,183)
39,088 (21,058) (14,270) (294,183)
18,797 12,521 8,559 -
- (1,463) (834) (9,069)
- - - (106,362)
- - - 409,614
- - (16,117) -
(330) - - -
57,555 (10,000) (22,662) -
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(¢) Net debt reconciliation (Continued)

Cash and

cash Lease Redemption
equivalents Borrowings liabilities liabilities
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
As at January 1, 2024 57,555 (10,000) (22,662) -
Net cash flows 711 (78,470) 8,341 -
Finance costs - (2,200) (1,456) -
Addition of lease liabilities - - (3,435) -
Early termination of leases - - 210 -
As at December 31, 2024 58,266 (90,670) (19,002) -

(Unaudited)
As at January 1, 2024 57,555 (10,000) (22,662) -
Net cash flows (9,556) (31,165) 3,124 -
Finance costs - (374) (391) -
Addition of lease liabilities - - (2,818) -
As at March 31, 2024 47,999 (41,539) (22,747) -
As at January 1, 2025 58,266 (90,670) (19,002) -
Net cash flows 10,181 (24,328) 502 -
Finance costs - (1,060) (333) -
Early termination of leases - - 4,748 -
As at March 31, 2025 68,447 (116,058) (14,085) -

35. Transactions with non-controlling interests
(a) Acquisition of interest in subsidiaries from non-controlling interests

In 2021, 160 Medicine acquired 10% shareholding of Ruiwentai Medicine from Mr. Zhang Renyi and Mr.
Huang Caijun, the minority shareholders of Ruiwentai Medicine, with the cash consideration of
RMB217,000. After this transaction, Ruiwentai Medicine became a wholly owned subsidiary of 160
Medicine.

The effect of transactions with non-controlling interests on the equity attributable to owners of the
Company in 2021 is summarised as follows:

RMB’000
Cash consideration to non-controlling interests 217
Less: Carrying amount of equity acquired from non-controlling interests (55)
Losses on acquisition recognized in equity 272

In 2021, Shenzhen Ningyuan acquired 4.76% of the shares of 160 Medicine held by non-controlling
interests with redemption rights at cash consideration of RMB12,684,000 (out of which, principal of
RMB5,329,000 and RMB4,671,000 was settled in 2021 and 2022 respectively, and interest of RMB
2,684,000 was settled in 2022).

There were also other transaction with non-controlling interests during 2022. please see Note 32(e) for
detail.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. Commitments

38.

The Group leases office properties and dormitories under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.
The lease terms are between one month and 5 years.

The Group has recognized right-of-use assets for these leases, except for short-term and low-value leases.
The corresponding leases liabilities as recognized have been set on Note 19.

The Group’s future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are
immaterial.

The Group has no material capital commitments as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March 31,
2025.

Contingencies

As at January 1, 2022, December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025, save as disclosed in Note
31(ii), the Group had no other material contingent liabilities outstanding.

Business combinations
Acquisition of Hailiantang Pharmacy

On November 14, 2022, 160 Medicine lost the lawsuit against a third party in a dispute case as described
in Note 31(iv). To mitigate such adverse impact and resume the ordinary operations of retail business, the
Group acquired Hailiantang Pharmacy in late 2022, which possesses a retail pharmacy license, to
continue to carry out the retail business of 160 Medicine. The Group acquired 51% of the equity interest
in Hailiantang Pharmacyat a consideration of RMB382,500 with a call option to purchase the remaining
49% equlty interest at a consideration of not higher than RMB450,000. In 2023, the Group acquired the
remaining 49% equity interest in Hailiantang Pharmacy.

As the call option was deeply in money, the risk and reward associated with the remaining 49% equity
interest has transferred to the Group on acquisition date, therefore, it is regarded that the Group acquired
100% of the equity interest of Hailiantang Pharmacy on the date of the acquisition.

The following table summarises the consideration to be paid for the acquisition, the fair value of assets
acquired, and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

RMB’000
Purchase consideration 706
Total consideration payables by the Group 706
The identifiable assets and liabilities recognized as a result of the

acquisition are as follows:

Fair value

RMB’000
Cash and cash equivalents 63
Prepayments and other receivables 264
Intangible assets 685
Trade and other payables (405)
Total identifiable net assets 607
Goodwill 929
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38.

39.

(a)

160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Business combinations (Continued)

(i) Analysis of cash flows in respect of the acquisition of Hailiantang Pharmacy is as follows:

RMB’000
Cash consideration paid at the date of acquisition (payable as at December
31, 2022) -
Cash and cash equivalents acquired 63
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included in cash flows from
investing activities 63

(i) Revenue and profit contribution

Had Hailiantang Pharmacy been consolidated from January 1, 2022, consolidated revenue and
consolidated net loss of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 would have been RMB
525,646,000 and RMB 120,065,000, respectively.

Related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other
party, to joint control over the party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making
financial and operation decisions, or vice versa. Related parties may be individuals (being members of
key management personnel, significant shareholders and/or their close family members) or other entities
and include entities which are under the significant influence of related parties of the Group where those
parties are individuals. Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control.

The following significant transactions were carried out between the Group and its related parties during
the reporting periods. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the related party transactions were
carried out in the normal course of business and at terms negotiated between the Group and the respective
related parties.

Names and relationships with related parties
The directors of the Company are of the view that the following parties were related parties that had

transactions or balances with the Group for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the
three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2025:

Name of related party Relationship with the Company

Mr. Luo The controlling shareholder, chairman and chief executive officer

Mr. Ji Cuilin A director of the Company

Mr. Huang Lang A director of the Company

Mr. Luo Yong Vice president and manager of the medical affairs division of the
Company

Mr. Wang Ming General manager of pharmaceuticals and healthcare products sales
division of the Company

Mr. Wang Lifa A director of the Company

Mr. Peng Fang Vice president of the Company

Qingdao Chengyu Shareholder of the Company
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39.
(b)

©

160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Related party transactions (Continued)

Key management compensation

Key management includes executive directors and senior management of the Group.

Compensation of the key management personnel of the Group, including directors’ remuneration as
disclosed in Note 40, was as follows:

Three months ended
Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’oc00 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’o00
(Unaudited)

Wages, salaries and bonuses 5,120 5,834 5,149 1,377 1,641
Pension costs — defined contribution plans 53 53 63 18 23
Other social security costs, housing benefits 116 120 92 29 30
Shared-based payment expenses - 31,603 37,533 13,146 6,199
5,289 37,610 42,837 14,570 7,893

Movements of amounts due from/to related parties
Amounts due from related parties — Non-trade

Three months ended

Year ended December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Unaudited)

Beginning of the year/period 9,846 2,182 - - 5,077

Loans to related parties 35,751 81,738 442,185 94,571 107,062
Loan repayments received (43,415) (83,920) (437,685) (90,071) (107,062)

Interest income accrual - - 1,284 - 419

Offsetting with payable - - (707) - -

End of the year/period 2,182 - 5,077 4,500 5,496

From November 1, 2019 to December 31, 2023, three entities within the Group, Mr. Luo and Shenzhen
Yi Yi De Yi Information Technology Co., Ltd. (“Yi Yi De Yi”) have entered into two loan agreements,
pursuant to which the three entities provide Mr. Luo with certain term loans and revolving credit loans
for Mr. Luo to repurchase Shenzhen Ningyuan's shares from other shareholders before the
Reorganisation. It was also agreed that Yi Yi De Yi acts as the agent for handling the fund transfers. The
outstanding loan amount under these agreements is RMB20,000 as at Décember 31, 2022 and was fully
settled as at December 31, 2023.

Apart from above loans, the remaining amounts of RMB2,162,000 as at December 31, 2022 were
unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and denominated in RMB and fully repaid in 2023.

During the year ended 2024, the Group entered into a new unsecured loan agreement with Yi Yi De Yi
and Mr. Luo, pursuant to which the Group provided Mr. Luo with revolving credit facilities amounting to
RMB 60 million which are interest bearing at December 31, interest rates ranging from 3.45% to 6% per
annum and repayable on demand and Yi Yi De Yi acts as the agent for handling the funds transfer between
the Group and Mr. Luo. In the year of 2024 and the first three months ended March 31, 2025, Mr. Luo
has drawdown the loan several times and repaid in short time for each drawdown. As at December 31,
2024 and March 31, 2025, the outstanding balance under this loan agreement is RMB1,284,000 and
RMB1,703,000, respectively.
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39.

(o)

160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS »

Related party transactions (Continued)

Movements of amounts due from/to related parties (Continued)

In January 2024, one shareholder of the Company, namely Qingdao Chengyu, and Shenzhen Ningyuan
entered into a loan agreement pursuant to which Shenzhen Ningyuan provides Qingdao Chengyu with
loan of RMB4,500,000. The loan is unsecured, repayable on January 2, 2025 and bears interest at a fixed
rate of 6% per annum. In December 2024, the parties involved agreed to extend the loan maturity to
September 30, 2025 and to offset that Shenzhen Ningyuan due to Qingdao Chengyu of an amount
approximately RMB707,000 against the aforesaid loan balance.

The directors of the Company confirmed that all balances of amounts due from related parties will be
settled prior to Listing based on the management repayment schedule.
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41.
(a)

160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Benefits and interests of directors (Continued)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Mr Luo, Mr. Ji Cu111n Mr Huang Lang, and Mr Wang Lifa have been appointed as the directors of the
Company from October 20, 2023.

Mr. Zhang Ruxie and Ms. Sun Meng have been appointed as the non-executive directors of the Company
from October 20, 2023.

Mr. Luo, Mr. Ji Cuilin, Mr. Huang Lang, and Mr. Wang Lifa are directors of Shenzhen Ningyuan before
October 2023. Mr. Zhang Ruxie is the non-executive director of Shenzhen Ningyuan before October 2023.
Directors’ retirement and termination benefits

No retirement or termination beneﬁts have been paid to the Company’s directors during the Relevant
Periods. - - -

Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’ services

No consideration was provided to third parties for making available directors’ services during the Track
Record.

Information about loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by
and connected entities with such directors durmg the Relevant Periods except for loans to Mr. Luo as
dlsclosed in Note 39(c).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

No other significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Group was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the Relevant Periods.

Notes to the statements of financial position of the Company

Investment in subsidiaries

RMB’000
As at January 1, 2023 -
Recognition -of the 1nvestment in a subsidiary upon completion of the
Reorganization 3,999,450
As at December 31, 2023 3,099,450
Addition 109,983
As at December 31, 2024 3,209,433
Addition ' 7,809
As at March 31, 2025 3,217,242

As at December 31, 2023 and 2024 and March 31, 2025, the Group performed impairment testing for the
Company’s investment in subsidiaries. No impairment was provided as according to the impairment
assessment, as the recoverable amounts was higher than the carrying amount of the investment in
subsidiaries. The recoverable amounts were determined based on value-in-use calculations using cash
flow projections based on approved financial budgets.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
41. Notes to the statements of financial position of the Company (Continued)

(b) Prepayment and other receivables

As at
As at December 31, March 31,
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Deposits and other receivables
- Amounts due from subsidiaries 2 50,002 41 47
Prepayment
- Deferred listing expenses - 3,175 3,720 3,959
Total 2 53,177 3,761 4,006

(¢) Share premium

Share premium

RMB’000

As at January 1, 2023 -

Capital injection from shareholders 50,000

Recognition of the investment in a subsidiary upon completion of the

Reorganization 3,099,450

Derecognition of redemption liabilities 596
Share issuance cost (1,485)

As at December 31, 2023, 2024 and March 31, 2025 3,148,561

(d) Accruals and other payables
As at
As at December 31, March 31,

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB’0c00 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Amounts due to subsidiaries - 15,106 13,102 37,735

Payables for listing expenses - 9,605 11,135 6,896

Total - 24,711 24,237 44,631

(e) Otherreserve

The other reserve represented the share-based payment reserve arisen from the grant of share options
under the share option schemes of the Company.

42. Subsequent events

There were no material events taken place subsequent to the end of the three months ended March 31,
2025.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of other accounting policies

Principles of consolidation
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including VIE companies and their subsidiaries) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group.

Inter-company transactions, balances, and unrealized gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statements of
changes in equity and consolidated statements of financial position respectively.

Changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as owners.
The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
amounts of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on dlsposal to non-
controlhng interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is
remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognized in profit or loss. This fair value
becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/ permitted by
applicable IFRS Accounting Standards.

If the ownership interest in or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable. Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving
a dividend from these-investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the
subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the
separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of
whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary comprises the:

. fair values of the assets transferred

. liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business

. equity interests issued by the Group

. fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, and

. fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group
recognizes any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net
identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the:

. consideration transferred,
. amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and
. acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity over the fair value

of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the
fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognized directly
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is classified
either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are subsequently
remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are recognized in profit or loss.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker(“CODM™).

CODM who is responsible for making strategic decisions, allocating resources, and assessing performance
of the operating segments, has been identified as the executive directors of the Company.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINAN CIAL STATEMENTS
Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(if any). Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognized when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

Office software

Office software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (if any).
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost over their estimated useful
lives.

License

Separately acquired licence are shown at historical cost. It has a finite useful life and are subsequently
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (if any).

Research and development
Research expenditure is recognized as an expense as incurred. Development costs that are directly

attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group
are recognized as intangible assets where the following criteria are met:

. it is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available for use

. | management intends to complete the software and use or sell it

. there is an ability to use or sell the sdftware

. it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future economic benefits

. adequate téchnical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell

the software are available, and
. the expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably measured.

Capitalized development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortized from the point at which
the asset is ready for use.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognized as an expense as incurred.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)
Intangible assets (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in Note 43.2. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in
intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortized but it is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount
of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is
made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from
the business combination in which the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are identified at the
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortization and are tested annually for
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Foreign currency translation
Functional currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
functional currency of the Company is RMB, which is also the presentation currency of the Group. The
Company’s primary subsidiaries were incorporated in the PRC and these subsidiaries considered RMB as
their functional currencies. As the major operations of the Group are within the PRC, the Group
determined to present the consolidated financial statements in RMB (unless otherwise stated).

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
at year end exchange rates are generally recognized in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if they
are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the consolidated statements
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on a net basis within “Other gains/(losses), net”.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

Transactions and balances (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss
are recognized in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on non-
monetary assets such as equities classified as fair value through other comprehensive income are
recognized in other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are

translated into the presentation currency as follows:

. assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

. income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

. all resulting currency translation differences are recognized in other comprehensive income,

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investments in foreign
entities are recognized in other comprehensive income.

Investments and other financial assets
Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

. those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income
(“OCI”) or through profit or loss), and

. those to be measured at amortized cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCIL. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity 1nvestment at
fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

111



43.
43.8
(ii)

(iii)

160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade-date, the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
assets not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed
in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the
asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which
the Group classifies its debt instruments:

. Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognized directly in profit or loss and
presented in “other losses, net” together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses
are presented as separate line item in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

. FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCIL. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognized in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognized in
“other gains/(losses), net”. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in “other gains/(losses), net” and impairment expenses are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The Group has no such
debt investment during the reporting periods.

. FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognized in profit or
loss and presented net within “other gains/(losses), net” in the period in which it arises. The FVPL
of the Group mainly consists of wealth management products during the Track Reporting Period.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

Investiments and other financial assets (Continued)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortized cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there

has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognized from initial recognition of the receivables.

Impairment on other receivables is measured as either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit loss, depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial recognition,
then impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit losses.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statements
of financial position where the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized
amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and setile the liability
simultaneously.

43.10 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases its equity instruments, for example as the result of an employee
share scheme, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income
taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the owners of the Company as treasury shares until the
shares are cancelled orreissued. Where such shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received,
net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is
included in equity attributable to the owners of the Company.

Treasury share is also recorded to reflect the carrying amount of the redemption liabilities when it is
initially reclassified from equity and will be reversed when the redemption liabilities are derecognized
upon when the Group’s obligations in connection with those redemption liabilities are discharged,
cancelled or have expired which will then be reclassified back to equity (Note 32).
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

43.11 Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortized cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption amount is recognized in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction
costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this
case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortized over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

43.12 Current and deferred income tax

@

(ii)

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income
based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred income tax
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries and associates
operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred income tax liabilities are not recognized if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary difference. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realized, or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilize those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are not recognized for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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160 HEALTH INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Summary of other accounting policies (Continued)

43.12 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(i)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current income tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred income tax balances relate to the same
taxation authority. Current income tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred income tax is recognized in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

43.13 Employee benefits

@

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that are
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render
the related service are recognized in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period
and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are
presented as current employee benefit obligations in the consolidated statements of financial position.

Pension obligations

The Group makes employee benefit contributions based on certain percentage of the salaries of the
employees to a defined contribution retirement benefit plan and medical benefit plan organized by
relevant government authorities in the PRC on a monthly basis, subject to certain ceiling. The government
authorities undertake to assume the retirement benefit obligations payable to the existing and future
retired employees under these plans and the Group has no further obligations for the post-retirement
benefits beyond the contributions made. Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred. Assets of
the plans are held and managed by government authorities and are separate from the Group.

Housing funds, medical insurances and other social insurances

The employees of the Group in the PRC are also entitled to participate in various government-sponsored
housing funds, medical insurances and other social insurances. The Group contributes on a monthly basis
to those funds based on a certain percentage of the employee’s salaries, subject to certain ceiling. The
Group’s liabilities in respect of these funds are limited to the contributions payable in each year and the
Group has no further obligation beyond the contributions made.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal
retirement date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The
Group recognizes termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group can no
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the Group recognizes costs for a restructuring
that is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment of terminations benefits. In the case of an
offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the
number of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end
of the reporting period are discounted to present value.
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43.14 Share-based payments

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based payment plan, under which the Group receives
services from employees as consideration for equity instruments of the Group. The fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the grant of equity instruments (including share scheme) is
recognized as an expense on the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments granted:

. Including any market performance conditions;

. Including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the requirement for employees
to save or holdings shares for a specific period of time); and

. Excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions.

The total expense is recognized over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the Group revises its estimates of the
number of options that are expected to vest based on the service conditions. It recognizes the impact of
the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. The
information relating to the share incentive arrangement is set out in Note 28.

Besides above, the shareholders of the Group transferred shares to employees and other parties with the
cash consideration which appears to be less than the fair value of the shares transferred, and this is viewed
as share-based payment transactions in substance. Under these transactions, the difference between the
shares’ fair value at the transfer date and actual transaction amount is recognized as share-based payment
expenses with a corresponding increase in equity in the consolidated financial statements.

43.15 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount
can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even
if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may
be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the
present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as
interest expense.
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43.16 Leases

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease payments:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable,

. variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date,

. amounts expected to be payable By the Group under residual value guarantees,

. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option,
and

. payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain exiension options are also included in the
measurement of the liability.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability,

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received,
. any initial direct costs, and

. restoration costs.

43.17 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the shareholders is recognized as a liability in the consolidated financial
statements in the year in which the dividends are approved by the entities’ shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

43.18 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in the net fair value gains/(losses) on these
assets.

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is earned from financial assets that are held for
cash management purposes, see Note 12.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset except for financial assets that subsequently become credit impaired. For credit- impaired
financial assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after
deduction of the loss allowance). .
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43.19 Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is
considered highly probable. They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell, except for assets such as deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial
assets and investment property that are carried at fair value and contractual rights under insurance
contracts, which are specifically exempt from this requirement.

An impairment loss is recognized for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset (or disposal group)
to fair value less costs to sell. A gain is recognized for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to
sell of an asset (or disposal group), but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously
recognized. A gain or loss not previously recognized by the date of the sale of the non-current asset (or
disposal group) is recognized at the date of derecognition.

Non-current assets (including those that are part of a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised
while they are classified as held for sale. Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a
disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be recognized.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale
are presented separately from the other assets in the balance sheet. The liabilities of a disposal group
classified as held for sale are presented separately from other liabilities in the balance sheet.

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has been disposed of or is classified as held for
sale and that represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, is part of a
single co-ordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or area of operations, or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results of the discontinued operation are presented
separately in the statement of profit or loss.

43.20 (Losses)/earnings per share

@

(i)

Basic (losses)/earnings per share

Basic (losses)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

. the (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the company, excluding any costs of servicing equity
other than ordinary shares
. by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted

for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares.
Diluted (losses)/earnings per share

Diluted (losses)/earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic
(losses)/earnings per share to take into account:

. the after-income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and
. the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding

assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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